



# **Fitrix**<sub>TM</sub>

## Inventory Replenishment User Guide

Version 5.40

#### Copyright

Copyright (c) 1988-2015 Fourth Generation Software Solutions. All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, transmitted, transcribed, stored in a retrieval system, or translated into any language in any form by any means without the written permission of Fourth Generation Software Solutions. **Software License Notice** 

Your license agreement with Fourth Generation Software Solutions, which is included with the product, specifies the permitted and prohibited uses of the product. Any unauthorized duplication or use of Fitrix INFORMIX-4GL version, in whole or in part, in print, or in any other storage and retrieval system is forbidden.

#### **Licenses and Trademarks**

Fitrix is a registered trademark of Fourth Generation Software Solutions. Informix is a registered trademark of Informix Software, Inc. UNIX is a registered trademark of AT&T.

FITRIX ACCOUNTING MANUALS ARE PROVIDED "AS IS" WITHOUT WARRANTY OF ANY KIND. FURTHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, THE ENTIRE RISK AS TO THE QUALITY AND PERFORMANCE OF THE FITRIX ACCOUNTING MANUALS IS WITH YOU. SHOULD THE FITRIX ACCOUNTING MANUALS PROVE DEFECTIVE, YOU (AND NOT FOURTH GENERATION SOFTWARE SOLUTIONS SOFTWARE OR ANY AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF FOURTH GENERATION SOFTWARE SOLUTIONS) ASSUME THE ENTIRE COST OF ALL NECESSARY SERVICING, REPAIR, OR CORRECTION IN NO EVENT WILL FOURTH GENERATION SOFTWARE SOLUTIONS BE LIABLE TO YOU FOR ANY DAMAGES, INCLUDING ANY LOST PROFITS, LOST SAVINGS, OR OTHER INCIDENTAL OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES ARISING OUT OF THE USE OF OR INABILITY TO USE SUCH FITRIX ACCOUNTING MANUALS. EVEN IF FOURTH GENERATION SOFTWARE SOLUTIONS OR AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF FOURTH GENERATION SOFTWARE SOLUTIONS HAS BEE ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES, OR FOR ANY CLAIM BY ANY OTHER PARTY. IN ADDITION, FOURTH GENERATION SOFTWARE SOLUTIONS SHALL NOT BE LIABLE FOR ANY CLAIM ARISING OUT OF THE USE OF OR INABILITY TO USE SUCH FITRIX SOFTWARE OR MANUALS BASED UPON STRICT LIABILITY OR FOURTH GENERATION SOFTWARE SOLUTIONS' NEGLIGENCE. SOME STATES DO NOT ALLOW THE EXCLUSION OF IMPLIED WARRANTIES, SO THE ABOVE EXCLUSION MAY NOT APPLY TO YOU. THIS WARRANTY GIVES YOU SPECIFIC LEGAL RIGHTS AND YOU MAY ALSO HAVE OTHER RIGHTS, WHICH VARY FROM STATE TO STATE.

Fourth Generation Software Solutions Corporate: (770) 432-7623 100 Galleria Parkway, Suite 1020 Fax: (770) 432-3447 Atlanta, GA 30339 E-mail: sales@fitrix.com http://www.fitrix.com

**Copyright (c) 1988-2015 - Fourth Generation Software Solutions Corporation - All rights reserved.** No part of this publication may be reproduced, transmitted, transcribed, stored in a retrieval system or translated.

## **Table of Contents**

Chapter 1 – Introduction	5
Features/Function Highlights	5
Overview	6
Replenishment Basics	6
Tailored Usage Tracking	7
Definable Review Periods	7
Modifiable Advice Calculations	8
Customized Recommendations on "What" and "When to Buy"	8
Integration with other Fitrix Modules	9
Negotiable Service Level/Price	9
The Steps in Replenishment Processing	9
Setting up Defaults and Reference Files	10
Usage Tracking	14
Calculate Replenishment Data	17
Buy Recommendations	18
Create Vendor Purchase Orders	18
Exception Processing	19
Chapter 2 - Replenishment Definitions	20
The Replenishment Definitions Menu	21
Replenishment Definitions Menu	21
Update System Defaults	22
Product Line	23
Update Product Line	24
Update Vendor Catalog	25
Print Product Line History	27
Create Product Line History	29
Update Product Line History	29
Usage Tracking	33
Inventory Control (IC) Tracking Defaults	34
Order Entry (OE) Tracking Defaults	35
Period Definition	36
Calculations	38
Examples of Calculations	39
Update Lookup Definitions	41
Update Preset Formulas	43
Update Calculations	44
Scripts	47
Chapter 3 – Computations and Analysis	51
Overview of Replenishment Computations and Analysis	52
Usage Tracking	52
Create Usage Summary	53
Update Usage Summary	55

Calculations	60
Calculate Replenishment Data	60
Update Replenishment Data	61
Exception Processing	64
Replacing Vendors	65
If you need to start buying product from another vendor (current vend out of business, new vendor gives better pricing) here is how you rese so that the new vendor will be used.	or went et the data 65
Buy Recommendations	65
Generate Recommendations	65
Update Recommendations	66
Create PO from Recommendation	70
Chapter 4 – Reports	72
Print / Create Product Line History	73
Print Product Line	74
Print Vendor Catalog	76
Print Missing Catalog Entries	76
Print Period Definitions	78
Print Lookup Definitions	79
Print Preset Formulas	80
Print Calculations	81
Print Script Definitions	82
Print Usage Summary	83
Print Replenishment Data	85
Create PO from Recommendations	90
Print Warehouse Buy Comparison	91
Print Warehouse Reallocation Report	91
Chapter 5 - Sample Formulas	92
Glossary	95

## **Chapter 1 – Introduction**

### **Features/Function Highlights**

- **Modular Integration** Direct integration with Fitrix Inventory Control, Order Entry, and Purchasing.
- **Tailored Usage Tracking** usage is tracked whenever an item is sold or transferred to another distribution center. Sales outside the norm like a monthly special to reduce inventory can be excluded from the usage number so as not to inflate them. You define how often this usage should be captured and inserted into the usage tables and how many periods of usage you want to use to calculate your average usage.
- Replenishment Calculations once you have run the Create Usage program to insert the most recent period's activity into the usage tables, you are now ready to run the Create Replenishment Calculations program. This calculation process takes the updated usage numbers and applies formulas to it you have previously defined that determine what your Suggested Order Quantity is. These formulas use predefined and user defined variables such as quantity already on hand, quantity on order, average lead time, next replenishment cycle date, safety factor, and carrying and replacement costs.
- Generate Buy Recommendations and Purchase Orders this process takes the calculated Suggested Order Quantity and creates a buy recommendation to each of your vendors. You can then take these recommended quantities and automatically roll them up to meet any minimum purchase target level you may have with your vendor to receive monetary rewards such as discounts or prepaid shipping. The final step in the replenishment process is to then run the program that automatically creates a purchase order to each vendor.
- **Exception Processing** The Expedite Report can be set up to run automatically on a nightly or weekly basis. This report helps identify items in between replenishment review dates that need to be ordered because the quantity on hand has fallen below the reorder point. The reorder point is the quantity you never want to fall below or you may experience stock outages.
- What If Screen allows you to see the affect a large customer order or a new customer will have on your inventory in future periods based on average monthly usage and purchase orders coming in so that you can plan your purchases accordingly.

### Reporting

Reports available include:

- Usage Summary
- Replenishment Calculations
- Buy Recommendations
- Create PO From Recommendations
- Expedite Report

- Warehouse Buy Comparison Report
- Warehouse Reallocation Report

### Overview

This overview describes the powerful features of the Replenishment module. Information regarding the specifics of setting up this module and detailed descriptions of the various screens are contained in subsequent chapters of this User Guide.

We strongly recommend you read this Overview before reading the other sections of this User Guide. The Overview consists of the following sections:

#### Replenishment Basics

This section explains the fundamentals of Inventory Replenishment.

#### The Steps in the Replenishment Processing

This section describes the methods and processes involved in tracking usage, creating buy recommendations, and creating vendor purchase orders.

### **Replenishment Basics**

Effective Replenishment strategies are central to economical inventory control. Inventory costs account for a substantial portion of a company's expenses. Inventory costs include not only the initial purchase of inventory, but storage and management costs as well. Successful inventory management requires that a minimum level of inventory be maintained that guarantees excellent customer service and satisfaction.

The Fitrix Inventory Replenishment module, with its powerful tracking, calculating, and analyzing capabilities, increases your ability to manage inventory with an optimum service/ investment balance. It not only provides standard replenishment system functionality, but also adds considerable flexibility to those standards. The innovative programming responds to the demands of inventory control management.

The following are among the many benefits provided by Fitrix Inventory Replenishment:

- · Tailored usage tracking
- Definable review periods
- Modifiable advice calculations
- · Customized recommendations on "what" and "when to buy"
- Integration with other Fourth Generation modules

No one replenishment formula can satisfy the needs of a modern inventory environment. Instead, companies must consider each inventory item and each of its possible locations. Many items fall under similar requirements and may be grouped for the replenishment process via a common "script."

### **Tailored Usage Tracking**

The Replenishment module incorporates many unique features that allow you to tailor usage tracking to fit the structure of your company and the characteristics of individual product lines. With this module you can:

- Define which types of transactions constitute usage when shipping (including definition by order type or line type).
- · Include/exclude warehouse transfers from usage.
- · Track usage in user-specified period "buckets."
- Modify usage rate formulas for weighted average to indicate trends.
- View details of usage transaction documents for decisions to include/ exclude usage on a per document or line item basis.
- · Define usage periods per product line.
- Exclude abnormal sales from usage tracking.
- Modify usage tracked prior to replenishment calculations.

### **Definable Review Periods**

Fitrix Replenishment recognizes that different product lines need review at different intervals. These intervals reflect product line characteristics, including sales trends, cost of item, necessary lead time, and seasonality. This module allows you to:

- Define Review Periods ranging from one per day to one per month.
- Modify review periods or next review date anytime during the review cycle.
- · Set lag time between usage and calculations for management review.
- Run daily expedite report review of all product lines for critical inventory levels outside of the normal replenishment cycles.

### **Modifiable Advice Calculations**

Fitrix Replenishment includes replenishment formulas based on industry standards. In addition to these standard formulas, you have the ability to easily modify the formulas used for calculating replenishment advice. This allows your purchasing department to:

- Calculate Economic Order Quantity (EOQ) using standard formulas provided or customized formulas.
- Reprogram "internal" replenishment calculations by manipulating simple mathematical "external" variables.
- Customize formulas for calculating usage rate, order point, line point, and economic order quantity.

### Customized Recommendations on "What" and "When to Buy"

Fitrix Replenishment has been programmed with maximum flexibility and user control in mind. For this reason, you can base minimum and target order levels on various elements of the order.

- · Group items into product lines for maximizing discounts.
- Eliminate repetitive paperwork and facilitate qualification for discounts by reviewing the full product line.
- Minimum and target purchases can be based on monetary value, volume, weight, or quantity.
- Define when product lines are subject to recalculation of usage and reorder points.
- Define when product lines are subject to buy review.
- Override calculated replenishment data (usage rate, safety allowance, order point, line point, and economic order quantity) prior to generation of buy recommendations.
- Set parameters for vendor's minimum order accepted, as well as a target order level for available discounts.
- Roll generated buy recommendations toward user-specified minimum or target levels if necessary.
- · Override recommended order quantities for individual items.

### Integration with other Fitrix Modules

Replenishment is designed to minimize duplicate data entry by integrating with other Fitrix modules. This integration includes parameters and shared database tables. The following are a few of the ways Replenishment works with other Fitrix modules:

### **Fitrix Purchasing**

- Creates Vendor purchase orders.
- · Shares vendor tables and vendor catalogs.
- Shares buyer and discount tables.

### **Fitrix Inventory Control**

- Includes or excludes inventory control shipments and warehouse transfers from usage tracking at the system level through defaults.
- · Shares inventory item and warehouse tables.

### **Fitrix Order Entry**

- Flags order entry order type/line type to be included or excluded from usage calculations.
- Accesses complete transaction information for usage tracking purposes.

### **Negotiable Service Level/Price**

With its precise analysis of data, Fitrix Replenishment allows you the opportunity to negotiate price based on service level with your customers. For example, if you sell a costly item ordered by a single customer approximately twice a year, you may be able to negotiate with that customer. You could offer a lower price if the customer is willing to wait the lead time for the item. This would save you the cost of carrying the item all year, a savings which you could then pass on to your customer. Conversely, a customer may request a service level of never out, in which case you may need to negotiate a surcharge based on frequency of order.

### The Steps in Replenishment Processing

This section describes the procedures involved in setting up and running the replenishment

programs. It covers the basic default and reference definitions that the system accesses for repetitive data entry.

### **Setting up Defaults and Reference Files**

### **System Defaults**

System defaults allow you to set parameters for company-wide use. These default values are used in the formulas you set up that when applied to your inventory usage numbers calculate that suggested order quantity from each of your vendors. These values include:

**Carrying cost** – this value is used in the Economic Order Quantity formula discussed later in this User Guide when Formulas are discussed. It represents the cost to carry inventory (the k factor).

**Replenishment Cost** – this value is also used in the Economic Order Quantity formula discussed later in this User Guide when Formulas are discussed. This dollar amount represents the reorder costs such as purchasing department expense, data entry, etc.

**Safety Factor** – this safety factor percentage is used in the Safety Allowance formula discussed later in this User Guide when formulas are discussed. It is basically adds a safety "pad" to your order point.

**Order Quantity Rounding Factor** – this factor is used to round the buy recommendation calculated to a whole number.

### Vendor Product Lines

You group items from a vendor catalog into product lines. These product lines are reflective of item similarities or ordering requirements. For instance, you may want to set up a product line for vendor ABC for slow moving items that you only want to review once a month and another product line for fast moving items that you want to review every week. Each vendor may have multiple product lines assigned, but each product line must be related to only one vendor. The vendor / product line relationship is restricted because of the way purchase information is generated. The replenishment advice generates a buy recommendation for each line which can then automatically generate a vendor purchase order. Therefore, a product line must apply to one vendor to whom the purchase order will be sent.

### Usage

Usage defaults define the parameters of usage tracking. Replenishment records as activity all transactions involving the movement of inventory entered through the Inventory Control or Order Entry modules. Although all activity is recorded, you may not want to use all activity as data valid for replenishment purposes. To customize what constitutes usage, you define the following defaults:

- Tracking of usage for Inventory Control shipping transactions
- Tracking of usage for Inventory Control transfer transactions
- Usage tracking parameters by order type in Order Entry
- Usage tracking parameters by line type in Order Entry

In addition to defining "what" constitutes usage, you also define "when" and "how" usage is tracked. The following defaults regarding usage periods are available:

- Period definition code allows you to assign period definitions by entering a short code like MONTH for monthly reviews.
- Duration in days of defined period
- Number of periods used for calculations

### Calculations

These programs are used to set up variables used in formulas, the formulas themselves, and then the replenishment code that will be assigned to a script you set up that tells the system when to update the usage numbers so that new buy recommendations can be calculated. Many of the values and formulas you will use are already set up for you.

Here is an example of the type of data set up in each program:

**Lookup definition** – here is the variable to find current quantity on hand from the inventory table:

🕼 Update Lookup Definitions	- • •
File Edit View Navigation Tools Actions Help	
🕘 🖷 🖉 🐼 🖺 🖻 🎘 🍳 🗒 🗈 💁 🔀 💟 🖉 🍳 🗳 🎒	di 🥪 😮
Variable: qty_on_hand QUANTITY ON HAND	
Select Statement	
select qty_on_hand from stilocar	
Hard Filter	
1=1	
Where Columns	*
item_code	
warehouse_code	
1 of 1	OVR

**Formula** – once the lookup variables are set up, these variables are used in formulas. The formula below is using the quantity on hand variable to calculate the true available quantity defined as:

Quantity On Hand + On Order From Vendor - Pending Customer Orders - Transfers Out + Transfer In

Each one of the values in this formula is a variable.

🔚 Update Pre-Set Formu	as	- • •
File Edit View Nav	igation Tools Actions Help	
0 🖪 🖉 🔇 🖺	) 🖾 🔍   🗒 🗅 🗞 💹   🔗 🤅	
	O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O	
Resultant:	avail_qty	
Description:	AVAILABLE QTY	
	Formula	
qty_on_hand + on_po	- on_order - from_tran + to_tran - standi	ng_ord - prod_ord_o
1 of 1		
		OVR

**Calculations** – once formulas are set up you assign a group of formulas to a replenishment code. The end result of the group of formulas is the generation of the recommended buy calculation. In the example below the replenishment code is SOQ which stands for Suggested Order Quantity. Notice line 7 is using the Available Quantity formula previously discussed.

📴 Update Calculations		
File Edit View Navigatio	n Tools Actions Help	
: O 🖷 🕑 🔀 🛱 🖻	] 9,   🗒 🗈 📴 🚾 🙄 🕥 🚳 🏥 🙆 😮	
Find Prev Next Add Upd	5 🔀 🗟 late Delete Browse	
Replenishment Code: SOQ	MONTHLY REPLENISHMENT	
Resultant	Formula T C 🔺	]
1 days_in_month	30 C N	
2 usage_rate	usage_sum / no_periods D_Y	
3 usage_in_month	usage_rate / days_in_month U Y	
4 ld_time_in_mon	avg_lead_time / days_in_month D Y	
5 sa	usage_in_month * Id_time_in_mon * safety_factor D_Y	
6 order_point	usage_in_month * Id_time_in_mon + sa L Y	
7 avail_qty	qty_on_hand + on_po - on_order - from_tran + to_tran D Y	
8 sugg_reorder	order_point - avail_qty S_Y	
	-	
1 of 1		1
Exit Detail		
	OVR	щ

### **Scripts**

The final step in the setup process is to assign the defined replenishment calculation formulas to individual product lines through a "script." These scripts assign a replenishment code (the defined variables, formulas, and ordering of formulas used to generate replenishment advice), review cycle, beginning and ending date of reviews, and period definition to a product code for a specific warehouse.

In the example below we have created a script SEATTL that assigns the SOQ replenishment code to the SCM product line for the Seattle warehouse. The review cycle will be every 28 days.

🔽 Update Script Definitions			
File Edit View Navigation	Tools Actions Help	p	
0 🖷 🖉 🚷 🖨 🖨	९। 🗒 🗅 🗟 💆 🏼	2 😧	
	e Delete Browse		
Script	SEATTL	SEATTLE WAREHOUSE	
Replenishment Code	SOQ	MONTHLY REPLENISHMENT	
Period	MONTH	MONTHLY REVIEW	
Period Duration in Days	30		
Product Line	SCM	SMITH-CORONA	
Warehouse	SEATTLE	SEATTLE DISTRIBUTION CENTER	
Review Cycle	1.00	Review Cycle in Days: 28	
Script Dates - Start	01/01/2007	End 12/31/2016	
Usage Tracking	C	alculations Buy Recommendations	-
Skip - N	Ν	N	
Days Delay -	0		
Last Activity - 12/31/2012	12/31/201	.2 01/06/2012	
Next Trx Date - 01/30/2013	01/30/201	.3 분분의 12/31/2012 분분의	
1 of 1			
			OVR

### **Usage Tracking**

The first step in the Replenishment process is to update your usage numbers by running the Create Usage program. This program drops the oldest usage period, inserts the most recent usage period and updates the average usage number used in many of the standard replenishment formulas. Here is a screen shot of the results after running this program:

🔽 Uı	odate Us	age Sun	nmary											F		x	٦
File	Edit	View	Navigatio	n Tools	Actions	Help											
:0	<b>F</b>	) 🛃 E	ġ 🖨 🛱		] 🛈 🗟		1 💟 🙆	ΘË	15 C	<i>©</i>	3						
Q	G	Ð	<b>A</b> (	<b>D E</b>							-						
Find	d Prev	Next	Add Upd	late Dele	ete Browse												
Scr	ipt Code	ATLANT	•	Last Activ	ity 12/23/2	012											
	Period	MONTH		Next Activ	ity 01/22/2	013	Line	Code	SCM								
	Item	12120			1		Replenish	ment	SOO	-							
Wa	rehouse	ATLANT	A				Buyer	Code	_								
S	tock Unit	EA		Total Usa	ge :	24.00	Avg Usage		10.	33							
Per	No Start		End	Α	ctivities	Usa	ae	Ove	erride							*	
	1 11/2	4/2012	12/23/2	2012	103.	00	103.00	)		103	.00						
	2 10/2	5/2012	11/23/2	2012	0.	00	0.00	)		0.	.00						
	3 09/2	5/2012	10/24/2	2012	0.	00	0.00	)		0	.00						
	4 08/20	5/2012	09/24/2	2012	0.	00	0.00	)		0	.00						
	5 07/2	7/2012	08/25/2	2012	0.	00	0.00	)		0	.00						
	6 06/2	7/2012	07/26/2	2012	0.	00	0.00	)		0	.00						
	7 05/28	8/2012	06/26/2	2012	0.	00	0.00	)		0.	.00						
	8 04/28	8/2012	05/27/2	2012	0.	00	0.00	)		0.	.00						
	9 03/29	9/2012	04/27/2	2012	0.	00	0.00	)		0.	.00						
	10 02/28	8/2012	03/28/2	2012	0.	00	0.00	)		0.	.00						
	11 01/2	9/2012	02/27/2	2012	11.	00	11.00	)		11	.00						
	12 12/3	0/2011	01/28/2	2012	10.	00	10.00	)		10	.00					-	
		3 of	12														
_		_															
	Exit Det	ail															
															0	/R	
															101	·••	đ

The program was run on December 23<sup>rd</sup> and period 1 is the new period that was added to average usage calculation.

The average usage calculation will be based on the date the item was added if a date added is found in the warehouse detail table, as shown here:

Warehouse Deta	il Information				
File Edit View	Tools Help				
🕘 🖷 🔮 🔇	i di di 🖸 🔮		🍐 🔯 🥯 🚱 🧯		
Item Warehouse D	etail				
Item: 1267	18	WIDGE	T		
Warehouse: ATLA	NTA	ATLAN	TA DISTRIBUTIO	ON CENTER	
Cost and Price Info	ormation				
Purchase Cost:	0.2500	Last Cost:		Quantity:	
Average Cost:	0.0000	Last Date:		Date Added:	12/18/2012
Price:	0.5000	Sold Date:		Added By:	bettyb
Vendor Item:	A	Row: Last Count:		Bin: On Hand:	0.000
Selling Information Minimum Se Subject To Terms Commission	ll Qty.: ; Disc.: Y Code:	1.00 Al Subject	low Backorder: To Trade Disc.:	Y 1 Req P	Taxable: Y
OK Enter the code for this	Cancel				OVF

For example if the user is tracking 12 months of usage and the item was added 2 months ago average usage will be usage/2 not usage/12.

The number of periods lookup definition has been changed to use this added date when determining the number of periods to use in the average usage calculation.

🗲 Update Lookup Definitions	- • ×
File Edit View Navigation Tools Actions Help	
🙂 🖪   🖉 🔇 🗈 🖨 🖼 🔍   🗒 🗅 🗞 💆   🗷 🛇 🚳 🖆 (	di 🥝 😮
G      O	
Variable: no_periods NUMBER OF PERIODS	
Select Statement	
select count(*) from stiusged, stiusger	
Hard Filter	
stiusged.doc_no = stiusger.doc_no	
Where Columns	*
item_code	
script_code	
warehouse_code	
	-
1 of 1	
View Detail	
	OVR

Instead of using the number of periods defined in the period definition table (like 12 periods as shown below) it will instead use the number of actual periods of usage found in the usage table.

📴 Period Definition	1	
File Edit View	Navigation Tools Actions Help	
🕴 🕗 🖪 🕑 🐼	li 🖶 🛱 🔍 🗒 🗅 🗞 🔀 🥪 😮	
	Image: Weight of the second	
Period Code:	MONTH	
Period Description:	MONTHLY REVIEW	
Duration in Days:	30	
Number of Periods:	12	
1 of 1		
		OVR

### **Calculate Replenishment Data**

Now that the usage has been updated with the most recent activity, we use this usage in the replenishment calculation formula. Here are the results:

🔽 Hadata Daulaajal 👘 🕬	Data			
Update Replenishment	Jata			
File Edit View Navig	jation Tools Action	s Help		
🕴 🕗 🖷 🖉 🚱 📑	) 🖾 🔍  🖺 🛈 🗟	2 🗄 🛇 🕻	) E 🕑 (	🏥 🥯 😮
i 🤉 🙆 🖨 🖨	0 🔒 📓			
Find Prev Next Add	Update Delete Brows	e		
Script Code: ATLANT	Vendor Code:	SCM		
Last Activity: 01/22/2013	Next Activity:	02/21/2013		
Period: MONTH	Replenishment:	SOQ	Line Code:	SCM
Item: 20702			Warehouse:	ATLANTA
Line Ty Resultant	Computed Value Ove	rride		
2 D usage rate	791.25	791.25		
3 U usage in month	26.38	26.38		
4 D ld time in mon	3.00	3.00		
5 D sa	39.56	39.56		
6 L order point	118.69	118.69		
7 D on_po	0.00	0.00		
7 D qty_on_hand	2.00	2.00		
7 D on_order	0.00	0.00		
7 D prod_ord_in	0.00	0.00		
7 D from_tran	0.00	0.00		
7 D to_tran	0.00	0.00		
7 D standing_ord	0.00	0.00		
7 D prod_ord_out	0.00	0.00		
8 D avail_qty	2.00	2.00		
8 S sugg_reorder	116.69	116.69		-
1 of 1				
1011				
Tt View Detail				
( <b>)</b>				
				OVR

Based on the formula in place for item 20702, the program is recommending that 117 be purchased.

### **Buy Recommendations**

After you have reviewed and made any changes needed to the Suggested Reorder Quantity that was calculated, you run the Generate Recommendations program. This program will group all items by Vendor and Warehouse where a Suggested Order quantity was calculated.

🔁 Update	e Recommendat	tions											• <b>×</b>
File Edi	t View Nav	igation To	ools	Actions	H	lelp							
0 🖷	Ø 🔇 🛱 🖬	P 🖾 🔍	貫 [	) 🖻	2	1 H C		C D	Ġ!	<i>©</i> (	3		
Sind Pr	ev Next Add	<b>ဖြ</b> Update [	3 Delete	Drowse									
Minimum:	1000.00	Stock:		1171.24	]	Whse:	ATLA	NTA		Script:	ATLANT	]	
Target:	1000.00	Nonstk:		0.00		Line:	SCM			Period:	MONTH		
Current:	1171.24	Volume:		0.000		Buyr:			R	Cycle:	1.00	)	
Roll:		Weight:		0.000	N	Ixt Rvw:	02/2	1/2013					
Vend:	SCM		SMITH	I-CORON	NA C	ORP.				PO No:			
Item Cod	e	Avail	Or	PO		Rec Qty		Price		Ex	tended		*
20700 20702			1 2		0 0		62 116		6. 6.	5800 5800	407 763	7.96 3.28	*
				Volume:				Ext:					
				Weight:				Ext:					
Item Type	e: Pur	chase UM:	Le	ad Time:			A	ABC Rank:		Disco	unts:		
	1 of 1	1											
	Detail												
VIEW	Detter												
													OVR

The Rec Qty is the recommended reorder quantity.

### **Create Vendor Purchase Orders**

After you have reviewed the Buy Recommendations and made any necessary changes to the recommended quantities, the last step in the Replenishment process is to run the Create PO from recommendations program.

### **Exception Processing**

Despite frequent reviews and careful replenishment calculations, unusual sales and unforeseen trends may occur, critically depleting a particular inventory item. For this reason, Replenishment provides an Expedite Report feature that may be programmed to run on a daily basis to check for inventory items that have fallen below the order point (critical level).

## **Chapter 2 - Replenishment Definitions**

This chapter covers the detail and flow of setting up and defining data the system uses for replenishment calculations. Definitions are the first option on the Main Replenishment menu and is used primarily during the setup procedure. You then use these definitions to assign a replenishment script to a new product line, or to change the definitions of your replenishment scripts. This chapter covers the following topics:

- Defining Replenishment system defaults
- Defining product lines, including review cycles
- Tracking usage, including period definitions
- Customizing replenishment calculations
- · Assigning replenishment scripts to product lines

### **The Replenishment Definitions Menu**

The first menu option on the Replenishment menu is Replenishment Definitions. From this main menu, you access the various setup and definition screens. To return to the main Replenishment Definitions menu from any of the definition menu options, press [ESC] or click on Exit. The Replenishment definitions menu options are listed on the menu below. A submenu located under a menu option is indicated by folder icon. In addition, many of the menu options access a main screen from which various pop-up menus, windows, Zoom windows, and list boxes may be located. For information regarding these various menu options, as well as how to navigate in and between the menu options, please refer to the Getting Started with Fitrix User Guide.

### **Replenishment Definitions Menu**



### **Update System Defaults**

/ Update System Defaults		
File Edit View Navigation Tools Ac	tions Help	
0 🖷 🖉 🗶 🗅 🗗 🔍	🗒 🗅 📴 💟 📅 💟 🐼 🕰 💬	di 😂 😮
Update		
Γ		
Description	Parameter	<u> </u>
Module Installed	Y	
Carrying Cost (K)	.2325	
Replenishment Cost (R)	5.00	
Safety Factor	.50	
Order Quantity Rounding Factor	.70	
1 of 1		
		OVP
		OVR

### Carrying Cost (K cost)

The Carrying Cost is the cost to your company to carry inventory and this percentage is used in the Economic Order Quantity formula. The formula to calculate the Carrying Cost is:

Annual Warehouse Cost / Average Inventory Value

Industry standards suggest the value should be the current prime lending rate plus 20%. This percentage should be entered in the form of a decimal; for example, enter 30 percent as .30.

### **Replenishment Cost (R cost)**

Enter the cost of replenishing stock. This is a weighted average of the "real" per unit replenishment costs of individual items and is used in the Economic Order Quantity formula. The formula used to calculate this value is:

Annual purchasing expense/(# of Purchase orders created x line items on the purchase orders)

The annual purchasing cost consists of costs such as your Purchasing Department salaries, data entry expenses, etc. Industry standards suggest the average replenishment cost is between \$4.00 and \$6.00 for most distributors.

#### **Safety Factor**

The safety factor percentage is used in the safety allowance formula. The formula is:

Safety Allowance = Usage in month \* lead time in months \* safety factor %

This is a pad that is added to the order point in the event that usage is heavier than normal or lead time is longer than normal. Industry standards suggest the safety factor % is 50%.

Please note that the safety factor % set here is used globally for all items. If you wish to use a different percentage (ex- fast moving items may use a higher % and slow moving may use a lower %), you can set this % at the item level on the Modify Reorder Detail screen found in the Update Inventory Information program.

#### Order Quantity (OQ) Rounding Factor

This factor is used to round the buy recommendation to a whole number. If you define as .5 and the buy quantity is 17.3, it will round it down to 17. Conversely if buy quantity is 17.6, it will round up to 18.

### **Product Line**

A product line is a grouping of products specific to a given vendor. It is not necessarily a class of products. All items purchased from a given vendor may be included in one product line, or the vendor may have a line sub-divided. What characterizes a product line are the attributes a vendor attaches to a line of items that affect the buyer's purchasing behavior. The vendor may not explicitly group any of his products into a line, but implicitly does so by offering total order discounts for certain groupings. You define the product lines, and the Replenishment system uses them to evaluate and generate purchasing recommendations.

A vendor may have more than one line but each line can only have one vendor. This is because the PO for the line can only be generated to one vendor and it is your primary vendor (marked as primary = Y in item catalog). For example, you cannot use line code ABC for both vendor A and vendor B because the PO created for this line can only be to one vendor.

The Product Line option is option (b) on the Replenishment Definitions menu. Note the folder icon indicating a submenu. When you select the Product Line option, the following submenu appears:



### **Update Product Line**

This is option (a) on the Product Line menu. Use this option to assign a product line code, description, and a vendor to a product line. When you select this option, the following screen displays:

C Update Product Line	
File Edit View Navigation Tools Actions Help	
] 🕗 🖷 🛷 🐹 🗈 🗈 🖼 🍳 📙 🗅 🗞 💟 🥔 😮	
Find Prev Next Add Update Delete Browse	
Line Code: 123467	
GM MFG	
Vendor Code: 123467 GENERAL MOTORS CORP	
1 of 1	
	OVR

#### Line Code

Enter a unique product line code, up to six characters, representing the product line. This is a required field. Below the Line Code field, there are two lines for entering a description of the product line.

#### Vendor Code

Enter the main vendor from whom you purchase this line of products. Vendors must have been previously defined through the Update Vendor Information option on the Purchasing Setup menu or through Accounts Payable. Zoom is available to select from among valid vendors.

Every time a new vendor is added that needs to be included in the replenishment process you must set up a product line for the vendor using option (a) on the Product Line submenu. Once the product line has been set up you must now add this line code when you set up the vendor catalog using option (c) on the Product Line submenu

### **Update Vendor Catalog**

Update Vendor Catalog accesses the vendor/item catalogs defined in Purchasing, allowing you to assign the items available from the vendor to a product line. You may use this option to add, find, and/or update a vendor's catalog of items. When you select this option, the following screen displays:

🗾 Update Vendor Catalog							_ 🗆 🗵	
File Edit View Navigation Tools Actions Help								
Find Prev Next Add Upda	te Delete Browse							
Vendor Code: 123467	GENERAL MOTORS CORP	Curr:						
Contact: MARK SELIN	Phone: 313 443 9765							
Item Code/Vend Item	Description	Item Cost	UM	PU Vendor Item Code	End of Life	Line	<u> </u>	
DEL22387HEIMODEL17R	DELCO (R) 72-78 EARLY HEI	47.5200	EA			123467		
DEL357ALT	DELCO ALTERNATOR	68.1200	EA			123467		
DEL417VR	DELCO VOLTAGE REGULATOR	18.7400	EA			123467		
GM366250	GENERAL MOTORS (R) LS-6 ENGINE	1135.0000	EA			123467		
GM3965774	GENERAL MOTORS LS-7 ENGINE	1875.0000	EA			123467		
GM3970699	GM L-88 SHORT BLOCK	1320.0000	EA			123467		
1							7	
1 of 1	1							
View Detail								
							OVR	

The fields located in the header portion of the screen are available for viewing only. Any updates to the header vendor information must be entered through the Purchasing module.

#### **Vendor Code**

This field displays the code which represents the vendor. The full vendor name is displayed to the right of the vendor code.

#### Currency

If the Multicurrency module is installed through the Accounts Payable or Purchasing module, this field displays the default currency code defined for the vendor.

#### Contact

This field displays the name of the contact person associated with the vendor.

#### Phone

This field displays the telephone of the vendor/contact person.

#### Item Code

Enter the item code for the item which you would like to add or update. This item code must have been previously set up through the Inventory Control module. A Zoom is available to assist you in choosing from among valid item codes.

#### Item Cost

Enter your cost for this item when purchased from this particular vendor.

#### UM

Unit of measure. This will default to the purchase unit in the item master or, if the item has a UOM list code assigned to it in the item master (meaning it is purchased in multiple units of measure) you will be able to drilldown to the list and select a unit of measure.

#### Vendor Item Code

Enter the code under which the vendor stocks the item. This field is free-form up to 20 characters.

#### Line

Enter the code for the product line to which the item belongs. This field is not required as some items might not belong to a product line. These product line codes must have been previously defined through the Update Product Line screen.

### **Print Product Line History**

#### This program is run only one time when you are setting up your Replenishment module.

#### If your vendors do not require minimum purchases or you are not trying to reach a target purchase amount you do not need to run any of the product line history programs

This option lets you print a purchase summary of product lines between any two given dates. The summary includes total monetary, total volume, total weight, and total quantity amounts for product lines selected. These different summary categories are included as these are the same categories that vendors may use to determine minimum and target purchase levels. For example, a vendor may require a minimum order of \$20,000 or a minimum order weight of 500 lbs.

After you select this option, the following screen displays:

🗾 Enter Selection Criteria 💿 💿 💌
File
Start Date: 01/01/2012 (1) End Date: 12/31/2012 (1)
OK Cancel
Enter the beginning date you wish to select.

After you select the desired date range for the desired Product Line History, an additional selection criteria screen appears. This feature allows you to print all available information or limit your report to product lines which contain specific values. This gives you the opportunity to print information which meets your exact needs.

🕼 Enter Selection Criteria	
File	
0	
Select	(tem
Product Line:	
Vendor Code:	
Item Code:	
Warehouse Code:	
OK Cancel	
Enter code part with wildcards (?=ar	y character,*=any character set)

Here is a sample of the product line history report.

🔽 Pr	int Product	Line History					×
File	Navigate	Help					
0	<b>3 0</b>	2 22 📥					
Dat	e: 01/18/	2013	Product Line His	tory			
Tim	e: 17:12:	49	ABC DISTRIBUTI	ON		Page: 1	
		Between	01/01/2012 and 1	2/31/2012			Ξ
		200/020	01,01,2012 484 1	, 01, 2012			
Lin	e Vendo	r Warehouse	Qty	Monetary	Volume	Weight	
OIL	12345	9					
		ATLANTA	987.000	9870.00	0.000	0.000	
		CHICAGO	0.000	0.00	0.000	0.000	
		SEATTLE	0.000	0.00	0.000	0.000	
		Total: OIL	987.000	9870.00	0.000	0.000	
							-

The Product Line History is used as a preview list for the next option, Create Product Line History. The Product Line History Report allows you to view the information to be stored by the replenishment system through the next option. After you look at the preview list, you can decide to choose a different date range or you can expand or limit the product lines included.

### **Create Product Line History**

After you have determined the information you wish to include through the use of the preview option, Print Product Line History, you may select the Create Product Line History option to gather and store the purchase summary data. This option utilizes the same date range and selection criteria screens as used to preview your selections through the previous option. After selecting the applicable date range and selection criteria, the system stores this information in a temporary table which is accessed to populate the fields in the following option, Update Product Line History.

### **Update Product Line History**

The Update Product Line History option allows you to set the minimum and target purchases as shown in the example below. It also calculates the review cycle based on the entry of the target amount. The Create Product Line History option creates the annual purchase information that is displayed on this screen.

### **Target Purchase Amount and Review Cycle**

The target purchase is the necessary order amount that allows you a discount from the vendor. This target purchase amount may be based upon monetary value, quantity, weight, or volume. The **replenishment review cycle** (the number of reviews per month) is determined by multiplying the target amount times 12 and then dividing the result by the annual purchase amount. If the review cycle value is 1, then the product line review is performed once a month (28 days). If the review cycle value is .50, then the product line review is performed every 14 days.

#### **Update Product History Screen:**

🗾 Update Product L	ine History.					8	
File Edit View	Navigation Tools	Actions Help					
🕗 🖷 🕑 🔇	D 🗗 🖾 🔍 🛙 🖽	0 🕹 💆 🗉	E 🖸 🙆 🖽 E	d 🖉	<b>?</b>		
	🔂 🔮 🗳 Add Update Dele	te Browse					
Line Code: GEN		GENERAL MOTO	GENERAL MOTORS				
Vendor Code: 12346	7 [	GENERAL MOTO	RS CORP				
Warehouse	Buyer Ty	pe Minimum	Minimum Target I		Annual	~	
SEATTLE	CATHY M	3000.00	6000.00	0.90	80000.00		
1 of 1	1					Ŧ	
View Detail							
						OVR	

In this example the program is recommending that this line should be replenished once a month (R/C = .9) in order to meet your minimum requirements.

#### Line Code

To access history for a previously defined product line code, use the Find command.

### **Description (unmarked field)**

Line code description. Vendor Code

The vendor code the product line is assigned to.

### Warehouse

The warehouse code that you are setting the minimum and target purchase levels for.

To access this screen go into update mode, click on the Detail button at the bottom of the screen and the click on the magnifying glass on the toolbar.

Select An Option	🗖 🗖 💌
File Edit Help	
🕗 🖷 🔮 🚷 😮	
Zoom Warehouse Codes View Product Line History	
OK Cancel	UVR

Select View Product Line History and click OK or press Enter.

Caracteria Additional Information									
File Edit View Tools Help									
😃 🖷   🛇 🔣 🏗 🖨 🎬 🍳   🗒 🗅 🗞 🕅 🗇 🤡									
Product Line Detail									
Line Code GEN	GENERAL MOTORS								
Vendor Code 123467	GENERAL MOTORS CORP								
Warehouse SEATTLE SEATTLE DISTRIBUTE	JTION CENTER								
Buyer CATHY CATHY SELIN									
Annual Purchases 01/01/2010 - 12/29/	2010								
M - monetary va	alue 80000.00								
W - weight	0.00								
V - volume	0.00								
Q - quantity	100.00								
Target Type Min. Purchase	3000.00 Target Purchase: 6000.00								
Review Cycle 0.90	Next Review 08/08/2011								
Target Achievement									
- last review - next-to-last - next previous									
🕑 OK 🛛 🔀 Cancel									
(M)onetary (W)eight (V)olume (Q)uantity	OVR								

Product Line Detail includes the date range for the annual purchase amount and shows the amount for the four different purchase types (monetary values, weight, volume, and quantity).

#### Buyer

The buyer code associated with the warehouse.

#### Annual Purchases

The system enters the annual amount purchased based on the product line history; however, you can change this amount if needed. The system uses this amount along with the target purchase entered to calculate the review cycle for the product line in a particular warehouse.

#### Туре

You can base the target purchase on any of the following available types of summary information:

M—monetary value V—volume W—weight Q—quantity

#### Minimum

Enter the minimum acceptable order as defined by the vendor. The unit of this minimum order is defined by target type. For example, if the target type is M (monetary), enter the minimum acceptable purchase amount as defined by the vendor.

### Target

Enter the targeted order amount that gives you a discount. The unit of this target order is defined by target type. When you enter a target purchase for a product line, the system calculates the Review Cycle (R/C).

### **R/C (Review Cycle)**

The system calculates the Review Cycle by multiplying the target purchase by 12 (representing calendar months) and then dividing the result by the annual purchase. This field is used to determine how often a review will be generated to assess whether or not a recommendation to purchase items from this product line is included in the replenishment advice. A 1 in the R/C column indicates that you want to review this product line every month. A .50 R/C indicates a review cycle twice a month. Because industry standards indicate a review cycle on all inventory product lines should occur at least once a month, the maximum review cycle determination is 1. Once the system calculates the review cycle, you can modify it to fit the actual review cycle you want. For example, if the system calculated the review cycle as 0.93, you would want to change this to 1.00 so that your review cycle would be once a month.

By knowing what your review cycle is for a product line, you can gather usage information and create formulas based on your review cycle to compute the proper replenishment recommendations.

### **Target Achievement**

These are three system-maintained fields that indicate how close your purchase levels have been to the target over the last three review cycles.

### **Usage Tracking**

When you select the Usage option from the Definitions menu, the system returns the following submenu:



Usage is tracked whenever an item is sold or transferred. When determining the usage rate, sales and transfers that are abnormal should be excluded from the usage calculation. A normal sale to a customer or a transfer from a parent warehouse to one of its branches is generally considered normal usage. Surplus sales when you are getting rid of inventory and special transfers from one warehouse to another may be considered abnormal usage. You can customize which of these transactions your system considers normal usage (thereby including these transactions in usage tracking).

The Replenishment system reports both usage and non-usage Activity on the Usage Summary screen located under the Usage Tracking menu option. For more information and an example of the Usage Summary screen, please see Chapter Three. The activity field reports all activity, including that considered abnormal usage. The usage field reports only the activity that has been included in usage tracking. You may modify the tracked usage information as needed prior to replenishment calculations through the override field on the Usage Summary screen.

### **Inventory Control (IC) Tracking Defaults**

Using the first option available on the Usage submenu, IC Tracking Defaults, specify whether or not inventory control transactions should be tracked as usage when they are shipped or transferred. Generally you enter usage through Order Entry rather than Inventory Control. You can customize the system to accommodate any normal usage you wish to track from the Inventory Control module. Enter a Y(yes) to indicate that the indicated transactions should be tracked as usage, or an N(no) to indicate that they should not be tracked as usage. These values are used as defaults for shipping and transfer transactions when using Inventory Control(IC).

### IC Usage Tracking Screen:



### Track Usage in Shipping

Enter a Y(yes) or an N(no) to indicate whether or not shipping transactions should be tracked as usage when entered through the Inventory Control module.

### Track Usage in Transfers

Enter a Y(yes) or an N(no) to indicate whether or not transfer transactions should be tracked as usage when entered through the Inventory Control module.

You may override the Inventory Control usage defaults defined in the above screen per line item when entering transactions. Below is an example of a shipping transaction entered through the

Inventory Control module. Note the unlabeled field at the end of the detail lines where you see either N or Y. This field designates whether or not the line item should be considered recurring usage and therefore be tracked as usage. The same field is available on the Inventory Control Transfers screen.

	Image: Contract of the second seco									
	Find Prev Next Add Update Delete Browse									
	Reference/Order No.: 2	423423			Dat	e: 01/18/2013				
	Description: S	HIP FOR	TRADE SHOW							
	Customer Code: 12	2		CL	ASSIC PARTS UN	ILIMITED				
	Item Code		Warehouse	Uni	Quantity	Price	Extension			-
	12112		SEATTLE	EA	100.000	3.7070	370.70	Ν		
										-
	Total Amount Shipped: 370.70									
E	Enter [Y] if transaction is a	recurring	usage						C	WR

### **Order Entry (OE) Tracking Defaults**

Using the second option available on the Usage submenu, OE Tracking Defaults, define whether or not Order Entry transactions should be tracked as normal usage depending upon order type and/or line type. These values are used as defaults for transactions when using Order Entry (OE) and provide a method for customizing the integration between Order Entry and Replenishment. The following example illustrates how you can base the definition on a combination of both line and order types. In the example below we are only tracking stock (STK) items shipped out of the warehouse (REG order type):
CE OE Tracking Defaults	• •
File Edit View Navigation Tools Actions Help	
🙂 🖷 🖉 🐼 🗈 🗈 🎬 🔍 📋 🖻 🗞 💆	3
Order Type: REG Regular Order Line Type: STK R STOCK ITEM	
Track Usage: Y 1 of 1	
	OVR

# Order Type

Enter the Order Type code which represents the order type you wish to define for usage tracking. These order type codes must have been previously set up through the Update Order Type Definitions option of the Order Entry module. Zoom is available to assist you in selecting a valid order type. The system displays a description of the order type to the right of the order type code.

# Line Type

Enter a Line Type code which represents the line type you wish to define for usage tracking. These line type codes must have been previously set up through the Update Line Type Definitions option of the Order Entry module. Zoom is available to assist you in selecting a valid line type. The system displays a description of the line type to the right of the line type code.

# Track Usage

Enter a Y(yes) or an N(no) to indicate whether or not this combination of order type and line type should be tracked as recurring usage. If this order type/line type affects your replenishment needs, you should track it as usage; if it does not affect your replenishment needs, you would not want it included in the usage rate information used to calculate your reordering needs.

# **Period Definition**

Period Definition is used to define the number of days in a period and the number of periods of usage to track. The recommended period definition is one that matches the review cycle of your product lines, however, they can differ. For instance, you can define the period for usage tracking as monthly, but set the review cycle to .50 indicating a review twice per month. Use the screen below to define the length of the period for collection of usage data. In addition to the length of the usage data collection period, you also define the number of periods to be used in calculating the usage rate.

The flexibility in period definition is a powerful advantage of Fitrix Replenishment.

For normal annual usage, you may want to define your usage collection as shown in the example below: twelve periods, each consisting of 30 days. This definition gathers the usage information into twelve variables. These twelve variables storing usage data determine your average usage rate for the last twelve periods. If this product line historically has a stable usage rate, a review of this information could occur every 30 days (indicated through a review cycle of 1). However, if you were defining periods and a review cycle for fast-moving items, you may wish to set your period definitions to bimonthly (defining the duration in days as 15). You may only wish to consider the past three months of usage too. The number of periods would still be defined as six since six 15-day periods would equal three months) For very fast-moving product lines such as seasonal items, the usage rate may fluctuate greatly and therefore demand a more frequent review. In this case, you may want to set your review cycle for .25 for a weekly review.

Period Definition	
File Edit View	Navigation Tools Actions Help
🕘 🖷 🕑 🐼	12 🗗 12 🔍   🗒 12 🗟 🔀   🔗 😮
	🕑 🥝 🞉 Add Update Delete Browse
Period Code:	MONTH
Period Description:	MONTHLY REVIEW
Duration in Days:	30
Number of Periods:	12
1 of 1	
	OVR

# Period Code

Enter up to a six-character code to define the usage collection period

# **Period Description**

Enter a description of the period definition code entered in the previous field. This description may be up to 30 characters in length.

#### **Duration in Days**

Enter the duration in days for the period definition.

#### Number of Periods

Enter the number of periods to track. This entry determines how many periods the system uses to calculate the usage rate. This entry must be numerical and must be within the range of 1 to 104.

#### Example:

For products that have heavy usage or are trendy, you may want to track the usage on a weekly basis rather than on a monthly basis. If you choose to define a weekly period, and wish to

evaluate an entire year's usage, enter a duration of 7 days, and a number of periods value of 52. If you wish to track the usage in weekly periods, but only wish to track 3 months' worth of usage, enter duration of 7 days, and a number of periods value of 12.

# Calculations

Replenishment lets you customize your replenishment calculations to fit not only your unique company needs, but also the unique replenishment characteristics of each of your product lines. The purpose of replenishment calculations is to generate the usage rate, the order point, the line point, and the suggested order quantity for each item in each warehouse for a given product line. The system provides standard replenishment calculations. These calculations, as well as any customized by your system integrator, can be implemented without the necessity of knowing complex formulas. When you select the Calculations option from the Definitions menu, the system returns the following submenu:



Because each formula may be modified, the system is designed for maximum flexibility. These formulas are generally determined and defined during the setup procedures and are invisible to the end user.

The examples of replenishment calculations used throughout this User Guide relate to the product line replenishment method. You can, however, input formulas to affect other types of replenishment methods, such as the min/max method or the inventory classification method. Product lines can consist of a minimum of one inventory item and you can therefore customize the method used per inventory item if desired. Sample formulas used for implementing various replenishment methods are located in Appendix A.

# **Examples of Calculations**

# **IMPORTANT NOTE**

Although *using* the calculations is simple, understanding and modifying them is the most complex part of the Replenishment system. They require the planner or the system integrator to understand both the formulas required to calculate the various replenishment data and the SQL select statements used to gather the data for the calculations. The following discussion of Replenishment calculations is presented to allow for modifiability of the program to fit your company's unique replenishment needs. If you are not personally modifying the Replenishment formulas, you may skip this comprehensive information regarding the structure of these formulas contained in this CALCULATIONS section and go to the next section that discusses SCRIPTS.

An example of the process involved in a Replenishment calculation is listed below. A key element of replenishment advice is to forecast the necessary quantity to order for an inventory item. This forecast is based on past usage. One method of calculating past usage rate would be to collect data for a number of defined periods (for example, 6 months), and then calculate the average usage per period (month).

The Calculation set up flow is as follows:

**Update Lookup Definitions** – use this program to set up or revise variables that are then used in formulas.

**Update Pre-set formulas** – use this program to set up or revise formulas that use these variables.

**Update Calculations** – use this program to assign a group of formulas to a replenishment code which is then assigned to a replenishment script. The replenishment code tells the script what suggested order quantity formula to use. The script tells the system how often the replenishment process should be run for a specific product line/warehouse (i.e., - monthly).

In the following example, a company considers the average usage over the last six months to be applicable in determining their future purchasing needs. The usage rates of these six months can be stored in the **variables** usage1, usage2, usage3, usage4, usage5, and usage6. The following **formula** is used to compute the average of these values:

ر Lookup Variable

(usage1 + usage2 + usage3 + usage4 + usage5 + usage6)/6

Usage Rate Formula

To make use of this average, calculate the average and store the value in the variable called "usage\_rate." In this example, the variable "usage\_rate" is a **resultant variable**, or simply a **resultant** since it holds the calculated value of the usage rate formula.

, usage\_rate = (usage1+usage2+usage3+usage4+usage5+usage6)/6

Resultant Variable

The resultant variable usage\_rate can then be used in subsequent formulas such as the formula shown below, used to determine the amount of safety stock necessary.

The following is an example of the formulas necessary to generate a reorder advice (when and how many) for a product line which has a usage period defined as 28 day and you are tracking usage for the last six periods:

# usage\_rate = (usage1 + usage2 + usage3 + usage4 + usage5 + usage6)/6

The resultant variable, usage\_rate, is then used as part of the formula to determine safety\_stock.

# safety\_stock = usage\_rate \* safety\_factor

Both resultants, usage\_rate and safety\_stock, are then used to calculate order point.

# order\_point = (usage\_rate \* avg\_lead\_time/28) + safety\_stock

Order\_point (the critical point at which, if not previously reordered, inventory will be depleted prior to receipt), and line\_point (the maximum level at which inventory can be economically stocked), indicate *when* the replenishment process should occur. Both resultants, order\_point and usage\_rate, are used to determine line\_point.

# line\_point = order\_point + (usage\_rate \* review\_cycle)

Economic Order Quantity (EOQ) indicates *how many* should be ordered during the replenishment process. In the formula below, 24 represents the replenishment standard annual constant of 2 multiplied by 12 to reflect the monthly review cycle.

# The square of (24 x R ordering cost x usage rate)/(K carrying cost x item's catalog cost).

This formula determines how many to buy of a stock item. It balances the cost of carrying inventory with the cost of going through the replenishment process.

By knowing the formula set for the five standard Replenishment variables (usage\_rate, safety\_stock, order\_point, line\_point, and eoq), the planner can then set the lookup functions to find the data elements that must be retrieved in the calculations.

# **Update Lookup Definitions**

Lookup entry allows the user to define a **variable** of a replenishment formula and assign an SQL selection statement to retrieve the appropriate value for the variable. This variable is then used in a formula to get a **resultant variable**. In the examples above usage1 is a variable set up in Lookup Definitions and this variable is then used in the usage rate formula to determine usage\_rate, a resultant variable.

Here is the Update Lookup definitions screen:

Update Lookup Definitions	- • <b>×</b>
File Edit View Navigation Tools Actions Help	
o 🖉 🖻 🖉 🔇 🖆 🖨 🔍 🗒 🗅 🗞 💆 🚟 🖉 🖉 🖆	🥝 😮
Image: Constraint of the state of the st	
Variable: qty_on_hand QUANTITY ON HAND	
Select Statement	
select qty_on_hand from stilocar	
Hard Filter	
1=1	
Where Columns	<b>^</b>
item_code	
warehouse_code	
	~
14 of 20	
View Detail	
	OVR

# Variable

This field holds the variable for this lookup definition. A lookup variable can be up to 14 characters.

#### Description

Enter a description of the variable. This description can be up to 30 characters.

#### Select Statement

This is the main SQL select statement for the lookup. The selection statement must return a single value and that value must be numeric. The select statement should include the "from" clause. This "from" clause specifies the location in the data base of the necessary data. For example, in the Lookup screen illustration above we are selecting the quantity on hand from the warehouse table stilocar.

# Hard Filter

This field holds the "where" clause for a selection that is not based on a specific value passed from the program. The values are usually join statements or columns related to a constant. The filter records what data element should be selected for the statement. A hard filter of 1 = 1 indicates to select all data available, and is usually indicative of only one value available for selection.

# Where Columns

Use this section to build the dynamic portion of the where clause in the selection statement. Enter column names up to 37 characters, which tell the system which columns require a value for the selection to succeed. In order to have the select cost from stuctlgd select statement succeed, the specific item code/line\_code must be in the where clause. By having item\_code and line\_code in the Column field, the lookup program builds the selection statement based on item code and line\_code passed to it.

# Example:

This example shows a select statement that is used to resolve the variable usage1.

Variable: usage1 Description: USAGE ONE

Select Statement: select user\_override from stiusger, stiusged <- (usage tables)

Hard Filter: stiusger.doc\_no = stiusged.doc\_no and stiusged.per

Where Column: item\_code, script\_code, warehouse\_code

The select statement reads as follows:

select user\_override from stiusger, stiusged where stiusger.doc\_no = stiusged.doc\_no and stiusged.per and item\_ code = ? and script\_code = ? and warehouse\_code = ?

# **Update Preset Formulas**

Now that the variables are set up you can use them in the formulas needed for creating " resultant" variables that are used to create the replenishment code formulas assigned to product lines.

🗲 Update Pre-Set Formulas	
File Edit View Navigation Tools Actions Help	Resultant Variable
<ul> <li></li></ul>	
Resultant: avail_qty	
Description: AVAILABLE QTY Formula	
qty_on_hand + on_po - on_order - from_tran + to_tran - standing_ord - prod_or	d_0
1011	
	OVR
	Variables set up using the Lookup Definitions

# Resultant

Enter the resultant variable to be resolved by the formula. This field is required and can contain up to 14 alphanumeric characters.

# Description

Enter a description of the resultant/formula. This field may contain up to 30 alphanumeric characters

#### Formula

Enter the actual formula which is used to determine the resultant variable. The resultant variable must be resolved to a numeric value. The formula can be up to 200 alphanumeric characters long.

# **Update Calculations**

Now that the resultant formulas are set up, use this program to group the resultants required to compute the usage rate, order point, line point, and suggested order quantity.

ົ 🗾 ບເ	pdate Calculations				×
File	Edit View Navigatio	n Tools Actions Help			
0	r 🖉 🐼 🗓 🗗 🗎	i q   🗒 🗅 💫 💹 🖾 🛇 🛆 🍳 🖗 🖉 🤅			
Find	d Prev Next Add Upd	ate Delete Browse			
Reple	enishment Code: SOQ	MONTHLY REPLENISHMENT			
	Resultant	Formula	т	С	*
1	days_in_month	30	С	Ν	
2	usage_rate	usage_sum / no_periods	D	Y	
3	usage_in_month	usage_rate / days_in_month	U	Y	
4	ld_time_in_mon	avg_lead_time / days_in_month	D	γ	
5	sa	usage_in_month * ld_time_in_mon * safety_factor	D	γ	
6	order_point	usage_in_month * ld_time_in_mon + sa	L	γ	
7	avail_qty	qty_on_hand + on_po - on_order - from_tran + to_tran	D	γ	
8	sugg_reorder	order_point - avail_qty	S	γ	
					-
<b>E</b>	1 of 1 View Detail				
				0	)VR

# Replenishment Code

Enter a code for the reorder advice you wish to generate using this calculation.

# Description

Enter a full description of the Replenishment Code entered in the previous field. This description may contain up to 30 alphanumeric characters.

# Resultant

Enter a variable the system needs to resolve. If you enter a variable that you have already defined in Update Pre-Set Formulas, then the system automatically returns the formula, which you can manipulate if needed. You can also enter a variable that is not pre-defined and give it a formula that the system will only use for this calculation. This entry can be up to 14 characters long.

# Formula

Define the applicable formula which will resolve the variable entered in the previous field. This definition may consist of up to 200 characters. If the variable has been defined through Update Pre-Set Formulas, the formula is automatically displayed.

# Т

The T column stands for the variable's "Type." The type is used to determine if the variable requires calculation for each item or should only be computed one time. It is also used as an indicator to the system as to the value computed. This column accepts the following single-character flags that label the type of variable:

**C**—(**Constant**) - means the value is calculated one time and then used by the system without recalculation. For example, if you want the sa (safety\_factor) variable to always contain the value 50, by setting the type to "C," the variable will not be recalculated for each item.

**D**—(Dynamic) - re-computes the value for each different item passed to it.

**L—(Line Point)** – re-computes for each item and is used to indicate the maximum advisable reorder point for this item in the product line purchase.

**U—(Usage Rate)** - re-computes for each item and is used to indicate the forecasted usage for this item.

**R—(Reorder/Order Point)** - re-computes for each item and is used to indicate the item's critical reorder level. If an inventory item reaches this order point level, it is imperative that it be reordered immediately, as this order point indicates the risk of depletion of an item from inventory stock.

**S—(Suggested Reorder Quantity)** – re-computes for each item and is used to indicate the suggested reorder quantity for this item. The screen example shows that there can only be one line that represents each formula that ultimately resolves the usage rate (U), order point (R), line point (L), and the suggested order quantity (S). When the system calculates the values from these formulas, the results are automatically stored. If you want to store other calculations such as the safety stock, which might have a D or C type, you need to enter a "Y" in the Create column.

# С

The Create column accepts a Y if you want the system to save the resulting value from a dynamic or constant formula. The system automatically saves the values for the order point, line point, suggested reorder quantity, and usage rate, as their default for the create column is automatically set to Y. If this value is set to Y these formulas and their computed values will display in the Update Replenishment Data program (see Chapter 3) so you know what formulas were used in calculating your Suggested Order Quantity.

#### Here are the various formulas used by the SOQ replenishment code:

Days in month

30

**Usage rate** = usage for last 12 periods / 12 or however many periods the item has been in the database based on the date added value in the item master.

Usage in month = usage rate \* days in month of 30 / day duration of 30

Lead time in months = Vendor ETA days/ days in month of 30

Ex- if ETA is 90 days then this would be 90/30 or 3 months to get product

**Safety Allowance** = Usage in month \* lead time in months \* safety factor % (aka safety stock)

This is a pad that is added to the order point in the event that usage is heavier than normal or lead time is longer than normal. Industry standards suggest the safety factor % is 50%.

Order Point = Usage in month \* lead time in month + safety allowance

This is the quantity that you should have on hand to take care of customer during the time it takes to get in more stock + a safety allowance. You should never fall below this point.

Available Qty = qty\_on\_hand + on\_po - on\_order - tsfs out + tsfs in

On PO = Remaining receipt qty on open POs where the required receive date is < (today's date + eta days)

On Order= the ship qty on Open REG and FUT customer orders where the to ship date is < (today's date + eta days)

Tsfs out – whse transfer out so QOH will decrease.

Tsfs in - whse transfer in so QOH will increase.

Suggested Reorder = Order Point - Available Qty

#### **IMPORTANT NOTE:**

The ordering of the formulas on the Replenishment Calculation Definitions screen is essential. A resultant variable must be resolved before referencing it in a formula. For example, the resultant variable usage\_rate must be calculated before calculation of the order point, because the order point formula uses the value of usage\_rate. Also, you must make sure that every variable has a method of resolution. If a lookup fails within a formula, the result would be a null value. The system depends on the generation of order point, line point, and suggested order quantity. You are required to enter formulas that generate values for each of these variables.

# Scripts

The final step in the Replenishment setup process is to create scripts for your product line/warehouses. These scripts pull together all the various information from the replenishment definitions and tell the system when and how to run the replenishment calculations.

Replenishment scripts assign the various replenishment definitions to an inventory product line. These assignments allow you to customize the method for determining replenishment advice individually for each product line. The Update Script Definitions screen is where you combine the various components of the replenishment module into a working calculation. You determine *when* these calculations occur by defining a starting and ending date for each script. Each product line you wish to review must have at least one script assigned to it, although under certain circumstances you may want to assign more than one script to a particular product line. For example, in the case of seasonal product lines, you can assign one script to the product line that runs during the off-season (determined by the starting and ending dates of the script), and a second script that runs during the peak season. These scripts could differ in period definitions (you may wish to track usage in shorter periods during the peak season), review cycles (you may need to review usage more often during the peak season), and formulas for determining advice (you may wish to analyze data differently during the peak season). This feature allows you not only to customize by product line, but also to customize for buying trends by product line.

When you select the last option on the Replenishment Definitions menu, Scripts, the following submenu appears:



Here is the Update Script Definitions screen:

🕼 Update Script Definitions				-
File Edit View Navigation	Tools Action	s Help		
0 🖪 🖉 🚷 🕲	a 🗒 🛈 🗟	🖾 🥥 🔇		
	🛛 🙀 Delete Brows	e		
Script	ATLANT	ATLAN	ITA WAREHOUSE	
Replenishment Code	SOQ	MONT	HLY REPLENISHMENT	
Period	MONTH	MONT	HLY REVIEW	
Period Duration in Days	30			
Product Line	SCM	SMITH	I-CORONA	
Warehouse	ATLANTA	ATLAN	ITA DISTRIBUTION CENTER	
Review Cycle	1.00		Review Cycle in Days:	28
Script Dates - Start	01/01/2007	1121 E	ind 12/31/2016	
Usage Tracking		Calculatio	ons Buy Recor	mmendations —
Skip - N	N		Ν	
Days Delay -	0			
Last Activity - 01/22/2013	0	1/22/2013	01/22/2013	
Next Trx Date - 02/21/2013	0	2/21/2013	02/21/2013	
1 of 2				
				OVR

In this example, we're using script code of ATLANT to calculate reorder quantities for the SCM product line for the Atlanta warehouse and the reorder calculations will be run every thirty days. The formulas that will be used to make the calculations are based on the Replenishment Code SOQ.

# Script

Enter a script code of up to six alphanumeric characters in this field. This code enables you to label a script definition by name, thereby allowing you to access this script easily by entering this short code. This script code must be vendor specific, and product line-specific, as in the above example; each script can only apply to one product line, though each product line can have more than one script assigned.

# **Script Description**

Enter a more lengthy (up to 30 alphanumeric characters) description of the script code entered in the previous field.

# **Replenishment Code**

Enter the replenishment code used by this script definition. This method must have been previously defined through the Update Calculations option under the Definitions-Calculations submenu. Zoom is available to assist you in selecting from among previously validated methods.

# Period

Enter the period code used by this replenishment script. This period code must have been previously defined through the Update Period Definition option located under the Definitions-Usage menu option. After entering the period code in this field, the system displays a description of the period code, and the duration in days corresponding to the period code. Zoom is available to assist you in selecting from among previously validated period codes.

# **Period Duration in Days**

This field displays the period duration for the period defined in the previous field. The period duration has been previously defined through the Update Period Definition option. This period duration is expressed in number of days.

# Product Line

Enter the product line code used for this replenishment script. This product line code must have been previously defined through the Update Product Line option located under the Definitions-Product Line option. After entering the product line code in the field, a description of the product line code appears in a display only field. Zoom is available to assist you in selecting from among previously validated product line codes.

# Warehouse

Enter the warehouse code to be used for this replenishment script. This warehouse code must have been previously defined through the Update Warehouse Definitions option of the *Business* Inventory Control module. After entering this warehouse code, a description of the warehouse appears in a display-only field. Zoom is available to assist you in selecting from among previously validated warehouse codes.

# **Review Cycle**

This field is display-only and contains the review cycle as defined through the Update Product Line History screen. For more information about this review cycle definition

# **Review Cycle in Days**

This no-entry field displays the number of days corresponding to the review cycle listed in the previous field.

# **Script Dates - Starts**

Enter the date that you wish the replenishment process to begin.

# Script Dates - End

Enter the date that you wish the replenishment process for this script to end.

# Skip—Usage Tracking

This field accepts either a Y(yes) or an N(no) to indicate whether or not usage tracking should be skipped when this replenishment script is processed. This skip feature allows you to limit the run

to a specific process by disabling the other processes. The default for this field is N(no), do not skip usage tracking.

# Skip—Calculations

This field accepts either a Y(yes) or an N(no) to indicate whether or not calculations should be skipped when this replenishment script is processed. This skip feature allows you to limit the run to a specific process by disabling the other processes. The default for this field is N(no), do not skip calculations.

# Skip—Buy Recommendations

This field accepts either a Y(yes) or an N(no) to indicate whether or not buy recommendations should be skipped when this replenishment script is processed. This skip feature allows you to limit the run to a specific process by disabling the other processes. The default for this field is N(no), do not skip buy recommendations

# Days Delay

Enter the number of days to delay calculations (0-9) from the date the system processes usage tracking. This delay may be used to check the usage summary prior to performing calculations. The default for this field is 0.

# Last Activity

This no-entry field displays information regarding the last date of review cycle activity. The system displays this information separately for Usage Tracking activity, Calculations activity, and Buy Recommendations activity.

# Next Trx Date

This no-entry field displays information regarding the next transaction date for review cycle activity. The system calculates this date by adding the number of days in your review cycle to the last activity date. The program displays this information separately for Usage Tracking Activity, Calculations activity, and Buy Recommendations activity.

# **Reset Script Definition Program**

If you ever need to zero out usage, calculations, and recommendations and reset all dates use this utility. It will delete all the data for the script code entered and reset all the dates to 01/01/2000 so you can run the replenishment process from beginning to end again for your current cycle. This utility is useful of you decide to change a vendor from a weekly replenishment cycle to a monthly replenishment cycle. It basically resets all data to 0 so you can start from day one.

# **Chapter 3 – Computations and Analysis**

This chapter covers the various computations using the formula and calculation definitions set up in the previous chapter. This section explains the options available under the Usage Tracking, Calculations, Exception Processing, and Recommendations options located on the main Replenishment menu. Use these options to create summaries, perform calculations, analyze data, and provide replenishment recommendations. This chapter covers the following topics:

- · Creating, updating, and printing usage summaries
- · Calculating, updating, and printing replenishment data
- · Printing expedite report for exception processing
- · Generating, updating, and printing replenishment recommendations
- · Creating purchase orders from replenishment recommendations

# **Overview of Replenishment Computations and Analysis**

The Replenishment reorder advice, designed to keep your inventory at its optimum service level with a minimum of investment, is based on projected sales of inventory. Forecasting future sales often depends on past usage. It is therefore crucial to your inventory management that you have accurate inventory usage history available. Replenishment creates comprehensive usage summary reports which you use for calculations to create the replenishment reorder advice. Before you proceed, you can review and modify the usage data. For example, if an item has an unusual usage rate for a certain period, and you know this usage will not be repeated in future sales, you can modify the usage rate to more accurately reflect your usage trend.

Following the review of usage summary reports, the system scans the script definitions and implements the calculation of any applicable scripts. For example, a script is applicable if the date falls on or after the next scheduled review date based on review cycle definition and the script's starting and ending date. After the calculation of the replenishment data, a purchase recommendation is generated. After reviewing and updating the purchase recommendations, you are ready to create purchase orders for all included product lines. Purchase orders are created automatically through the Replenishment module.

# **Usage Tracking**

When you select the second option from the main Replenishment menu, Usage Tracking, the following menu displays:



Through the usage tracking options, you create and update your usage numbers before using these updated usage numbers in the next step, the replenishment reorder calculation.

# **Create Usage Summary**

This program updates your usage history with your most recent activity. For example, let's say you are collecting the last six months of usage to determine your monthly average usage. Before you run this program, you have this information in the replenishment usage table:

Period	Start date	End Date
1	05/03/2013	06/01/2013
2	04/03/2013	05/02/2013
3	03/04/2013	04/02/2013
4	02/02/2013	03/03/2013
5	01/03/2013	02/01/2013
6	12/01/2013	01/02/2013

Therefore your current average usage is based on usage from December 1<sup>st</sup> through June 1<sup>st</sup>. The next time the usage program is run on July 1<sup>st</sup>, the period 1 usage will be replaced with updated usage numbers from June 2<sup>nd</sup> through July 1<sup>st</sup>.

Period	Start date	End Date
<b>1</b>	<b>06/02/2013</b>	<b>07/01/2013</b>
2	05/03/2013	06/01/2013

3	04/03/2013	05/02/2013
4	03/04/2013	04/02/2013
5	02/02/2013	03/03/2013
6	01/03/2013	02/01/2013

These up to date usage numbers will be used in your replenishment formulas when calculating what you should reorder from your Vendors.

The system selects the product lines for which usage history is collected based on matching all of the following criteria:

- The script's next usage date is earlier than or equal to the run date.
- The script's start date is earlier than or equal to the run date.
- The script's end date is later than or equal to the run date.
- The script's Skip Usage field is set to "N."

The average usage calculation will be based on the date the item was added if a date added is found in the warehouse detail table, as shown here:

🔽 Warehouse De	tail Information							×
File Edit View	w Tools Helj	)						
0 🖷 🔮 🕻	S 🗊 🗊 🕅	2	Û	6 💟	<i>©</i> (	3		
Item Warehouse	Detail							
Item: 12	678		WIDG	ET				
Warehouse: AT	LANTA	9	ATLAN	ITA DIST	RIBUTI	ON CENTER		
Cost and Price In	nformation							
Purchase Cost:	0.250	0 Last C	lost:			Quantity:		
Average Cost:	0.000	0 Last D	ate:			Date Added:	12/18/2012	
Price:	0.500	0 Sold D	ate:			Added By:	bettyb	
-Location and Cou	unt Information							
Primary Locatio	on:	0		5	Seconda	ary Location:		
Location Ais	le:		Row:			Bin:		
Count Cycle Cod	le: A	Last (	Count:			On Hand:	0.	000
Vendor Informati	ion							
Vendor:			<u> </u>					
Vendor Item:								
Selling Information	on							
Minimum S	Sell Qty.:	1.00	A	llow Bac	korder:	Y 1	axable: Y	
Subject To Ten	ms Disc.: Y		Subject	To Trad	e Disc.:	Reg P	rofit %:	
Commissio	on Code:							
🕑 ОК	🔀 Cancel							
Enter the code for	this warehouse.							OVR

For example if the user is tracking 12 months of usage and the item was added 2 months ago average usage will be usage/2 not usage/12.

The number of periods lookup definition has been changed to use this added date when determining the number of periods to use in the average usage calculation.

🧧 Update Lookup Definitions	- • •
File Edit View Navigation Tools Actions Help	
🕘 🖷 🖉 🐼 🗈 🖻 🕮 🔍 🗒 🗈 🗞 🚺 🖾 🛇 🐼 🗳	di 🥪 😮
G      D	
Variable: no_periods NUMBER OF PERIODS	
Select Statement	
select count(*) from stiusged, stiusger	
Hard Filter	
stiusged.doc_no = stiusger.doc_no	
Where Columns	*
item_code	
script_code	
warehouse_code	
	-
1 of 1	
🚾 View Detail	
	OVR

Instead of using the number of periods defined in the period definition table (like 12 periods as shown below) it will instead use the number of actual periods of usage found in the usage table.

Period Definition	1	
File Edit View	Navigation Tools Actions Help	
:0 🗟 🖉	ü de 🖹 🍳 🗒 🗅 🗞 🔀 🔗 😮	
	🕶 🙆 😂 🞉 Add Update Delete Browse	
Period Code:	MONTH	
Period Description:	MONTHLY REVIEW	
Duration in Days:	30	
Number of Periods:	12	
1 of 1		
		OVR

# **Update Usage Summary**

Use this screen program to view and modify usage numbers created with the Create Usage Summary program. All fields are no-entry except the Override field described below.

🚰 Update Us	age Sumn	nary								
File Edit	View N	avigation Tool	s Actions He	elp						
0 🗟 🖉	) 🔇 🖺	e 🖹 🍳	🗓 🛈 🗞 💆	<b>H</b> 🛇 🙆	61 10 di 14	2 🕜				
۹ 🚱	<b>)</b>		) 🙀							
; FINU Prev	NEXT A	uu opuale Dei	ete browse							
Script Code	GPA	Last Activ	vity 02/01/2013							
Period	MONTH	Next Activ	vity 03/03/2013	Line C	ode SCM					
Item	12104			Replenishm	nent GPA-MN					
Warehouse	ATLANTA			Buyer C	ode					
Stock Unit	EA	Total Usa	age 43.5	Avg Usage	3.63					
Per No Start	:	End A	ctivities U	sage	Override	*				
1 11/2	4/2012	12/23/2012	6.00	7.75		7.75				
2 10/2	5/2012	11/23/2012	4.00	0.00		0.00				
3 09/2	5/2012	10/24/2012	0.25	1.00		1.00				
4 08/2	6/2012	09/24/2012	7.50	7.50		7.50				
5 07/2	7/2012	08/25/2012	0.00	0.00		0.00				
6 06/2	7/2012	07/26/2012	0.00	0.00		0.00				
7 05/2	8/2012	06/26/2012	0.25	0.25		0.25				
8 04/2	8/2012	05/27/2012	3.00	3.00		3.00				
9 03/2	9/2012	04/27/2012	0.00	0.00		0.00				
10 02/2	8/2012	03/28/2012	10.00	12.00		12.00				
11 01/2	9/2012	02/27/2012	11.00	11.00		11.00				
12 12/3	0/2011	01/28/2012	2.00	1.00		1.00				
	8 of 12									
View Det	ail									
						OVR				

# Header Section of Screen:

# Script Code

This no-entry field displays the script code previously defined under the Update Script Definitions option.

# Last Activity

This field displays the last date that the usage summary process was run for this script code. This is a no-entry field.

# **Next Activity**

This field displays the date of the next scheduled usage summary process for this script code. This is a no-entry field.

# Period

This no-entry field displays the period definition previously defined through the Period Definition option.

# Replenishment

This no-entry field displays the Replenishment Code previously defined in the Update Calculations screen.

# Line Code

This no-entry field displays the Line Code previously defined through the Update Product Line option.

# ltem

This no-entry field displays the item code for which the usage is reported. Item codes are set up through the *Business* Inventory Control module, and are accessed in the Replenishment module through the Update Vendor Catalog option.

# Warehouse

This no-entry field displays the Warehouse Code set up through the Inventory Control module. The Replenishment module accesses the warehouse code through the Update Script Definitions option.

# **Buyer Code**

This is the buyer code fond in the vendor record

# Total Usage

This is the sum of the usage numbers in the detail section of the screen.

# Avg usage

This is the Total Usage divided by the number of periods in the detail section of the screen.

# **Detail Section of Screen:**

Only the Override field can be entered

# Per No.

This no-entry field displays a list of period numbers which corresponds to the number of periods used to determine usage history for this particular product line script. The oldest period is assigned the highest period number. Therefore period number 1 is the current or most recent period reported.

# Start

This no-entry field displays the starting date of the period in the corresponding detail line.

# End

This no-entry field displays the ending date of the period in the corresponding detail line.

# Activities

This no-entry field reports the total usage involved in all transactions that affected the item, whether or not the transactions were tracked as usage. The Activity number may be higher than the Usage number if for example this warehouse received this item in a transfer in from another warehouse and you are not tracking inventory transfers in your usage calculations. You can choose whether or not you want to include transfer transactions in your usage tracking through IC Tracking Defaults. These defaults are located on the Usage submenu of the Definitions main menu.

# Usage

This no-entry field displays the usage involved in transactions that were tracked for the corresponding period. If you wish to modify this information, you can do so through the Override field.

# Override

Enter any changes to the usage quantity you want to make through this field. For example, if the Usage Summary screen reports usage of 85, and after reviewing the transactions involved, you want to modify the usage to 50, simply type 50 in the Override field and Usage automatically updates to 50. To aid you in this analysis, you can drilldown to view detailed information about the various transactions used for tracking usage by clicking on the magnifying glass or pressing Ctrl Z In the example below, the transaction detail screen is shown which corresponds to the Usage shown for period one. Usage in the detail transaction screen is shown as negative numbers, and if added together, equal the usage shown on the main usage summary.

C	📕 View Purchase/Sales History										
F	File Edit Navigation Help										
-											
[	Document	Date	OJ	Туре	Who	Business Name	Qty	Stats	Unit Cost	Unit Price	*
	128	11/29/2012	SC	PR	MFG-482	PR	-1.00	γ	3.09	0.00	
	129	11/29/2012	SC	PR	MFG-483	PR	-1.00	γ	3.09	0.00	
	130	12/03/2012	SC	PR	MFG-484	PR	-1.00	γ	3.09	0.00	
	2128	12/04/2012	OE	SH	1	ACTION AUTOPARTS	0.25	N	0.77	400.00	
	2123	12/04/2012	OE	SH	1	ACTION AUTOPARTS	-0.25	γ	3.09	400.00	
	2133	12/04/2012	OE	SH	1	ACTION AUTOPARTS	0.25	N	0.77	400.00	
	2139	12/05/2012	OE	SH	10	FISHERS SUPPLY	-1.25	γ	3.08	28.00	
	2139	12/05/2012	OE	SH	10	FISHERS SUPPLY	-2.50	γ	3.08	28.00	
	2144	12/05/2012	OE	SH	10	FISHERS SUPPLY	1.25	N	0.77	28.00	
	2150	12/10/2012	OE	SH	1	ACTION AUTOPARTS	-0.25	γ	3.08	27.50	
	2155	12/20/2012	OE	SH	10	FISHERS SUPPLY	-0.25	γ	3.08	28.00	
	2160	12/20/2012	OE	SH	10	FISHERS SUPPLY	-0.25	γ	3.08	28.00	
											-
	C OK										
											010
											OVR

# Fields on the Usage Drilldown Screen

# Document

This field contains the document number of the transaction included in usage summary tracking.

# Date

This field contains the date the transaction document was entered.

# Туре

This field displays the journal and activity type for each document on which the usage was included. The following is a list of possible types (the first two letters represent the type of journal; the second two letters represent the type of activity:

```
OE - SH-Order Entry journal, shipping transaction
PU - PU-Purchasing journal, purchase/receipt transaction
IC - PU-Inventory Control journal, purchase/receipt transaction
IC - SH-Inventory Control journal, shipping/sales transaction
IC - TR-Inventory Control journal, transfer transaction
IC - CT-Inventory Control journal, count adjustment
IC - AJ-Inventory Control journal, adjustment
```

# Who

This field displays the user name of the person who entered the document in question.

# Qty

This field displays the quantity of the item involved in the transaction.

# Unit Cost

This field displays the cost per stock keeping unit of the item involved in the transaction.

# Unit Price

This field displays the price assigned per stock keeping unit of the item involved in the transaction.

# Calculations

Use the options on the Calculations menu to calculate Replenishment data using the formulas set up in definitions. Prior to running the calculation program, the Create Usage Summary Program must be run so that up to date usage numbers will be used by the formula that calculates your average usage.

When you choose the third option on the Replenishment menu, Calculations, the following menu displays:



# **Calculate Replenishment Data**

Use option (a) to initiate system calculation of reorder quantities based on a beginning transaction date that you enter. Based on this date, the program scans through the script definitions to determine if calculations are required for a product line. The system selects the product lines for inclusion based on the matching of all the following criteria:

- The script's next calculation date is earlier than or equal to the run date.
- The script's start date is earlier than or equal to the run date.
- The script's end date is later than or equal to the run date.
- The script's Skip Calculations is set to "N."

After selecting the product lines to be included, the system computes the usage rate, order point, line point, and suggested reorder quantity.

**Note:** If the item's obsolete flag or special order item flag is set to Y in the item table, there will be no Suggested Reorder Quantity calculated for the item regardless of usage.

# **Update Replenishment Data**

This option allows you to view and update the replenishment data computed by the system prior to running the Generate Buy Recommendations program.

All fields on the Replenishment Data screen are no-entry fields except for the Override field. When you update a specific record, the system automatically places the cursor in the Override field, so you can enter adjustments to the calculations.

🔽 Update Rej	plenishment Data			
File Edit	View Navigation	Tools Actions	Help	
i 🕑 🖷 i 🔮		R 🗒 🖞 😫	🖾 🖸 🖾	ol 😳 di 📀 😮
Find Prev	Next Add Updat	e Delete Browse		
Script Code:	ATLANT	Vendor Code: SC	CM	
Last Activity:	01/22/2013	Next Activity: 02	2/21/2013	
Period:	MONTH	Replenishment: SC	Q	Line Code: SCM
Item:	20700		v	Varehouse: ATLANTA
Line Type	Resultant	Computed Value	Override	A
2 D	usage rate	421.00	421.00	
3 U	usage in month	14.03	14.03	
4 D	ld time in mon	3.00	3.00	
5 D	sa	21.05	21.05	
6 L	order_point	63.15	63.15	
7 D	on_po	0.00	0.00	
7 D	qty_on_hand	1.00	1.00	
7 D	on_order	0.00	0.00	
7 D	prod_ord_in	0.00	0.00	
7 D	from_tran	0.00	0.00	
7 D	to_tran	0.00	0.00	
7 D	standing_ord	0.00	0.00	
7 D	prod_ord_out	0.00	0.00	
8 D	avail_qty	1.00	1.00	
8 S	sugg_reorder	62.15	62.15	
1	of 1			Ŧ
Exit Det	ail			
				OVR

# Header Section of Screen

# Script Code

This no-entry field contains the script code previously defined through the Update Script Definitions option.

# Vendor Code

This no-entry field contains the vendor code previously defined through the Accounts Payable module. Replenishment accesses this code through the Product Line option.

# Last Activity

This no-entry field displays the last date the calculation process was run for this product line.

# Next Activity

This no-entry field displays the next scheduled date the calculation process will run for this product line.

# Period

This no-entry field displays the Period Code associated with the script for this product line. This period code is defined through Period Definition option.

# Replenishment

This no-entry field displays the Replenishment Code associated with the script for this product line. This Replenishment Code is defined through the Update Calculations option.

# Line Code

This no-entry field contains the Product Line Code previously defined through the Update Product Line option.

# ltem

This no-entry field contains the item code for the particular item being processed for replenishment calculations. This item code is defined as part of a product line through the Update Vendor Catalog option.

# Warehouse

This no-entry field displays the warehouse code associated with the product line as defined in the replenishment script. Initially, warehouse codes area assigned to inventory items through the Inventory Control module.

# **Detail Section of Screen**

The following fields are located in the detail section of the Update Replenishment Data screen. These fields represent the variables resolved by calculating the defined formulas and the numeric values assigned to them through the calculations The calculated values may be overridden using the Update selection of the ring menu. Pressing Update automatically locates your cursor in the Override field.

# Line No.

This field displays the line number for the detail portion of the screen. The line number is system maintained and cannot be modified. The line number denotes the sequence in which the formulas must be resolved.

# Туре

This no-entry field displays the type for the resultant variable in the next field. The following is a list of possible type codes:

**C**—(**Constant**) - means the variable is calculated one time and then used by the system without recalculation. For example, if you want the safety factor (resultant code sa on the screen above) to always contain the value .50, by setting the type to "C," it will not be recalculated for each item.

D-(Dynamic) - re-computes the variable for each different item passed to it.

**L**—(Line Point) - re-computes the variable for each item and is used to indicate the maximum advisable reorder point for this item in the product line purchase.

**U—(Usage Rate)** - re-computes the variable for each item and is used to indicate the forecasted usage for this item.

**R—(Reorder/Order Point)** - re-computes for each item and is used to indicate the item's critical reorder level. If an inventory item reaches this order point level, it is imperative that it be ordered immediately, as this order point indicates the risk of depletion of an item from inventory stock.

**S—(Suggested Reorder Quantity)** - re-computes the variable for each item and is used to indicate the suggested reorder quantity for this item.

# Resultant

This no-entry field displays the resultant variable resolved by the calculations. This is the variable name that represents the computed value that follows. These variables were defined through the Look-up Definitions and Pre-Set Formula screens on the Definitions menu.

# **Computed Value**

This no-entry field displays the value of the resultant variable displayed in the previous field.

# Override

This field allows you to modify the computed value in the previous field.

# **Exception Processing**

This is option 4 on the Replenishment main menu. Exception Processing provides you with a method of identifying those items whose inventory level has become critical (available quantity is below the reorder point) and should be ordered immediately prior to the next scheduled replenishment review. To identify items that need ordering, it is imperative that exception processing is run on a regular basis. You may schedule exception processing to run automatically as a regularly scheduled (or cron job) process. Industry standards recommend running exception processing for every product line daily. As with other Fitrix reports, you limit your selection using the selection criteria screen shown below. This report can be exported to Excel.

Enter Selection Criteria
File
0
Selection Criteria
Warehouse Code
Vendor Code
Script Code
Item Code
OK Cancel
Enter code part with wildcards (?=any charact

Print Expedite R	leport			
ile Navigate	Help			
0 0 0	2 🕹			
Date: 01/21/2	013 Emergency Buy	Recommendations		
Time: 17-17-2	9 ABC DIS	STRIBUTION		Page: 1
	Warehouse	e: ATLANTA		
	Warehouse	≥: ATLANTA		
Vend:SCM	Warehouse	a: ATLANTA		
Vend:SCM Item:20700 SCM PFG	Warehouse	e: ATLANTA Recommended:	62.000 Adj.	Qty:
Vend:SCM Item:20700 SCM REG	Warehouse ENCY 10 P/W	e: ATLANTA Recommended: Cost: Volume:	62.000 Adj. 6.5800	Qty: 407.9600
Vend:SCM Item:20700 SCM REG Line:SCM	Warehouse ENCY 10 P/W Script:ATLANT	e: ATLANTA Recommended: Cost: Volume: Weight:	62.000 Adj. 6.5800	Qty: 407.9600
Vend:SCM Item:20700 SCM REG Line:SCM Buyr:	Warehouse ENCY 10 P/W Script:ATLANT Period:MONTH	Recommended: Cost: Volume: Weight: Qty On Hand:	62.000 Adj. 6.5800 1.000	Qty: 407.9600
Vend:SCM Item:20700 SCM REG Line:SCM Buyr: UM:EA	Warehouse ENCY 10 P/W Script:ATLANT Period:MONTH Cycle: 1.00	Recommended: Cost: Volume: Weight: Qty On Hand: On PO:	62.000 Adj. 6.5800 1.000 0.000	Qty: 407.9600
Vend:SCM Item:20700 SCM REG Line:SCM Buyr: UM:EA ABC:	Warehouse ENCY 10 P/W Script:ATLANT Period:MONTH Cycle: 1.00 Next Rvw:02/21/2013	Recommended: Cost: Volume: Weight: Qty On Hand: On PO: On Order:	62.000 Adj. 6.5800 1.000 0.000 0.000	Qty: 407.9600
Vend:SCM Item:20700 SCM REG Line:SCM Buyr: UM:EA ABC:	Warehouse ENCY 10 P/W Script:ATLANT Period:MONTH Cycle: 1.00 Next Rvw:02/21/2013 Lead Time: 90.00	Recommended: Cost: Volume: Weight: Qty On Hand: On PO: On Order: Transfer:	62.000 Adj. 6.5800 1.000 0.000 0.000 0.000	Qty: 407.9600
Vend:SCM Item:20700 SCM REG Line:SCM Buyr: UM:EA ABC:	Warehouse ENCY 10 P/W Script:ATLANT Period:MONTH Cycle: 1.00 Next Rvw:02/21/2013 Lead Time: 90.00	Recommended: Cost: Volume: Weight: Qty On Hand: On Order: Transfer: Available:	62.000 Adj. 6.5800 1.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 1.000	Qty: 407.9600
Vend:SCM Item:20700 SCM REG Line:SCM Buyr: UM:EA ABC:	Warehouse ENCY 10 P/W Script:ATLANT Period:MONTH Cycle: 1.00 Next Rvw:02/21/2013 Lead Time: 90.00	Recommended: Cost: Volume: Weight: Qty On Hand: On PO: On Order: Transfer: Available: Reorder Point:	62.000 Adj. 6.5800 1.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 1.000 63.149	Qty: 407.9600
Vend:SCM Item:20700 SCM REG Line:SCM Buyr: UM:EA ABC:	Warehouse ENCY 10 P/W Script:ATLANT Period:MONTH Cycle: 1.00 Next Rvw:02/21/2013 Lead Time: 90.00	Recommended: Cost: Volume: Weight: Qty On Hand: On PO: On Order: Transfer: Available: Reorder Point: Difference:	62.000 Adj. 6.5800 1.000 0.000 0.000 1.000 63.149 62.149	Qty: 407.9600

# **Replacing Vendors**

If you need to start buying product from another vendor (current vendor went out of business, new vendor gives better pricing) here is how you reset the data so that the new vendor will be used.

- 1. Delete the vendor catalog for the old vendor.
- 2. Create a script code for the new vendor and set the script up using the Update Script Definitions program.
- 3. Create a vendor catalog for the new vendor.
- 4. Run the Expedite Report and it will run a function that replaces the old vendor with the new vendor so all buy recommendations/purchase orders will now be for the new vendor.

# **Buy Recommendations**

These programs take the Suggested Order quantity calculated by the Calculate Replenishment Data program and group all items by vendor code.



# **Generate Recommendations**

Based on a transaction date and vendors you specify, the program scans through the script definitions to determine if the recommendation to purchase program should be run for a given

product line. The system selects the scripts which should be run through the recommendation process based on which scripts match all of the following criteria:

- The script's next recommendation date is earlier than or equal to the run date.
- The script's start date is earlier than or equal to the run date.
- The script's end date is later than or equal to the run date.

If the program generates a recommendation to purchase, the system converts the suggested order quantities from stock-keeping units to purchasing units. After conversion of the recommendation order quantity to purchase units, the system rounds the recommended order quantity based on the rounding factor defined through the system defaults. It also takes into consideration the item's purchase unit increment factor in the item table. For example, if you can only purchase an item in increments of 2 and the Suggested Order Quantity calculated is 273, the buy recommendation will be adjusted to 274 (a quantity that is divisible by 2).

After creating the recommendations, the next step is to run the Warehouse Comparison report (see Chapter 4 for a description of this report). It may be that you have an overage of an item in one warehouse location that you can transfer to a warehouse that has a shortage instead of purchasing the item.

# **Update Recommendations**

After running the Generate Recommendations program, you may modify the recommendations prior to creating the purchase order. The Update Recommendations screen allows you to change the recommendation to the actual quantity to purchase. All the fields in the header section are noentry with the exception of the Roll Field.

🔽 Update R	Recommendati	ons						
File Falls	Minus Maria		Carla Antiana	Uala				
		gation _	ools <u>A</u> ctions	пер			_	
i 🕗 🖷 🕻	y 🕅 🗊 F	1 🖻 🔍	🗒 Ü 😫	2 14 0	) Q Q 9 (	9E   🥝 🌔	3	
९ G Find Prev	Next Add	(Update	Delete Browse					
Minimum:	1000.00	Stock:	46408.98	Whse:	ATLANTA	Script	ATLANT	
Target:	1000.00	Nonstk:	0.00	Line:	SCM	Period	MONTH	
Current:	46408.98	Volume:	0.000	Buyr:	[	Cycle:	1.00	
Roll:		Weight:	1520.112	Nxt Rvw:	06/30/2009			
Vend: SC	СМ		SMITH-CORON	IA CORP.		PO No:		
Item Code		Avail	On PO	Rec Qty	Price	E	tended	
12104			125	0	5264	5.5700	29320.48	
12112			330	0	4227	2.3900	10102.53	
12120			150	0	2923	2.3900	6985.97	
			Volume:		Ext:			
			Weight		Evt			
			weight:		EXG			
Item Type:	Purc	hase UM:	Lead Time:		ABC Rank:	Disco	ounts:	
	1 of 2							
View De	etail							
								OVR

# Header Section of Screen:

# Minimum

This field displays the minimum order the vendor accepts for the product line. This minimum has been previously defined, and can only be updated through the Update Product Line History program.

# Stock

This field displays the total number of stock purchasing units included on the purchasing recommendation. A stock purchasing unit is one which is a normally stocked item.

# Whse

This field displays the warehouse for the product line

# Script

This field displays the script code for the product line. Script codes are assigned to the product line through the Update Script Definitions program.

# Target

This field displays the target order quantity for which the vendor allows a discount. This target quantity is assigned to the product line through the Update Product Line History program.

# Nonstk

This displays the total purchasing units of nonstock items included in the purchase recommendation. A nonstock item is one that is not normally held in stock.

# Line

This field displays the product line code which was previously set up through the Update Product Line program on the Definitions menu.

# Period

This field displays the period definition code which was previously set up through the Period Definitions program.

# Current

This field displays the current recommended reorder dollar amount for the total product line. This amount may be based on quantity, monetary value, weight, or volume. It is used for comparison against the minimum and target levels. If you choose to use the roll feature to adjust this current

reorder amount toward the minimum or target, the adjustments are made to the individual line items and the total adjustment is reflected in this field. For more information on the roll feature, see below.

# Volume

This field displays the total volume for the recommended order. This is used for those product lines whose minimum and target levels are based on volume rather than quantity or amount.

# Buyr (Buyer)

Enter the buyer code associated with this product line. Buyer codes must have been previously set up through the Purchasing module.

# Cycle

This field displays the review cycle previously defined for this product line. This review cycle was determined through calculations on the Product Line History screen. For more information regarding review cycles, please see page 2-20.

# Roll

It is through this field that you implement the roll feature. Enter either an "M" to roll the orders toward the minimum purchase amount, or a "T" to roll the orders toward the target purchase amount.

The roll feature is a unique and efficient method for modifying your purchases toward the minimum or target level evenly across your product line. For instance, if a recommendation consists of an order for a product line that totals \$1,775.00, and your minimum purchase allowed by the product line's vendor is \$2,000.00, rather than adjust the various item quantities in an attempt to reach the minimum order, you can use the roll feature. You enter an M in the Roll field to indicate that you would like the order to roll toward the minimum rather than the target. The system distributes the modification as all the items in the product line are rolled until the quantities meet the required \$2,000.00 minimum. This roll feature adjusts according to the type you chose (monetary, quantity, weight, or volume) in the Update Product Line History program. Once you enter your choice of rolling toward the minimum or target levels, the values in the quantity and amount fields are updated. If you want to change the recommended quantity for any of the line items, you may update the quantities individually by pressing Ctrl TAB to move to the detail section and enter the new quantity.

# Weight

This field displays the weight of the total recommended order. This is used for those product lines whose minimum and target levels are based on weight rather than quantity or amount.

# Vend (Vendor)

This field displays the code of the vendor from whom the purchase of this product line will be made. The vendor is associated with the purchase line through the Update Product Line program on the Definitions menu.

#### Next Rvw

The system calculates when the next review is scheduled to occur based upon the date of this review and the defined review cycle.

# Vend:

Vendor code the purchase order will be created for.

# PO No.

When you run the Create PO From Recommendations program discussed later in this User Guide, the number of the purchase order generated will display in this field.

# **Detail Section of Screen:**

#### Item Code

This field displays the item code for which the purchase recommendation is generated. This field is no-entry and therefore the item code cannot be modified through this screen. If you wish to delete this item code from the list of purchase recommendations, simply enter a zero in the recommended quantity field.

#### Avail

This field displays the number of purchase units available in inventory for this item at this warehouse.

# On Ord

This field displays the number of purchase units on order for this item, scheduled to be shipped to this warehouse. This field together with the previous Avail (available) field, represents the quantity expected prior to receipt of the present recommended purchase.

#### **Rec Qty**

In this field, enter any modification you wish to make to the recommended purchase quantity for this item. Enter the corrected amount rather than an adjustment. If you wish to delete this item code purchase recommendation, you may enter a zero into the recommended quantity field.

#### Price

This field displays the price per purchase unit of the item code that is set up in the vendor catalog. This cost is multiplied by the recommended quantity and displayed in the following Extended field.

#### Extended

This field displays the extended price for the item code purchase recommendation. The system multiplies the price per purchase unit times the recommended quantity and displays it in this field. This field automatically updates after any modifications to the recommended quantity field.

# **Create PO from Recommendation**

Once you have reviewed the Buy recommendations and made any changes necessary run this program to create the vendor purchase order.

You can create the purchase orders for a single buyer, a group of buyers, or all buyers.

C Select	- • •
File	
<b>U</b>	
Selection Crit	eria
Buyer Code:	
🕑 OK 🛛 🔀 Cancel	
Enter buyer code.	OVR
Chapter 4 – Reports

# **Print / Create Product Line History**

Menu Path: RL- 1-b-c and d

a N	lavigate Help					
		•				
	9 0 0 0	e				
te:	01/21/2013	Create	Product Line	History		
me:	17:38:50	1	ABC DISTRIBUTI	ON		Page: 1
		Between 01,	/01/2012 and 1	2/31/2012		
ine	Vendor	Between 01, Warehouse	/01/2012 and 1 Qty	2/31/2012 Monetary	Volume	Weight
.ne	Vendor	Between 01, Warehouse	/01/2012 and 1 Qty	2/31/2012 Monetary	Volume	Weight
ne L	Vendor 123459	Between 01, Warehouse ATLANTA	/01/2012 and 1 Qty 987.000	2/31/2012 Monetary 9870.00	Volume 0.000	Weight 
ine IL	Vendor 123459	Between 01, Warehouse ATLANTA CHICAGO	/01/2012 and 1 Qty 987.000 0.000	2/31/2012 Monetary 9870.00 0.00	Volume 0.000 0.000	Weight 
.ne IL	Vendor 123459	Between 01, Warehouse ATLANTA CHICAGO SEATTLE	/01/2012 and 1 Qty 987.000 0.000 0.000	2/31/2012 Monetary 9870.00 0.00 0.00	Volume 0.000 0.000 0.000	Weight 0.000 0.000 0.000
.ne 	Vendor 123459 Tot	Between 01, Warehouse ATLANTA CHICAGO SEATTLE al: OIL	/01/2012 and 1 Qty 987.000 0.000 0.000 987.000	2/31/2012 Monetary 9870.00 0.00 0.00 9870.00	Volume 0.000 0.000 0.000	Weight 0.000 0.000 0.000

## **Print Product Line**

Menu Path: RL-1-b-f

📕 Print Product Line				- • ×
File Navigate Help				
🕘 🔇 🔇 🗶 🔊 📥				
[				
				^
Date: 01/21/2013	Product Lin	e Review		
Time: 17:39:21	ABC DISTR	IBUTION		Page: 1
Vendor:123459 - CASTROL OT				
Warehouse: ATL	ANTA	Buy	er:	
Annual Purchases: 01/0	01/2012 -12/31	/2012		
Monetary	Weight	Volume	Quantity	
9870.00	0.000	0.0000	987.000	E
Target Type:M Min. P	irchase:	Target	Purchase:	
Revie	<pre>/ Cycle:</pre>	Nex	t Review :	
Target achievement %: 1	ast: next	-to-last:	next previous:	
Warehouse: CHI	CAGO	Buy	er:	
Annual Purchases: 01/0	51/2012 -12/31	./2012		
Monetary	Weight	Volume	Quantity	
0.00	0.000	0.0000	0.000	
Towned Towned Miles D			Descharge	
larget lype:m Min. P	rchase: / Cycle:	larget	; Furchase:	
Target achievement %: 1	ast: next	-to-last:	next previous:	
Newsbarren (77)				
Annual Purchases: 01/0	01/2012 -12/31	./2012	er:	
Monetary	Weight	Volume	Quantity	
0.00	0.000	0.0000	0.000	
Target Type-M Min D	urchase:	Target	Purchase:	
Review	<pre>v Cycle:</pre>	Nex	t Review :	
	-			
Target achievement %: 1	ast: next	-to-last:	next previous:	
L				

# **Print Vendor Catalog**

### Menu Path; RL-1-b-g

File Navigate Help	Print Vendor Catalog			
Image: Organization of the second state of the second s	File Navigate Help			
Date: 01/21/2013       Vendor Catalog by Product Line         Time: 17:40:25       ABC DISTRIBUTION         Page: 1         Vendor Code: 123459 - CASTROL OIL CO         Contact: STEVE ISSACSON         Phone: 512 344 9000         Currency: STD         U.S. DOLLARS         Product Line: OIL         OIL PODUCTS         Item Code/Vend ItemDescriptionItem CostUnit         CAS1030       CASTROL (R) 10W30 MOTOR OIL         0.64       EA         CAS1040       CASTROL 10W40 MOTOR OIL         0.69       EA         CASGTX1030       CASTROL GTX 10W30 MOTOR OIL         0.75       EA	🕘 🔇 🌒 🕲 😓			
Date: 01/21/2013 Vendor Catalog by Product Line Time: 17:40:25 ABC DISTRIBUTION Page: 1 Vendor Code: 123459 - CASTROL OIL CO Contact: STEVE ISSACSON Phone: 512 344 9000 Currency: STD U.S. DOLLARS 				
Date: 01/21/2013 Vendor Catalog by Product Line Time: 17:40:25 ABC DISTRIBUTION Page: 1 Vendor Code: 123459 - CASTROL OIL CO Contact: STEVE ISSACSON Phone: 512 344 9000 Currency: STD U.S. DOLLARS  Product Line: OIL OIL PODUCTS Item Code/Vend ItemDescriptionItem CostUnit CAS1030 CASTROL (R) 10W30 MOTOR OIL 0.64 EA CAS1040 CASTROL 10W40 MOTOR OIL 0.69 EA CASGTX1030 CASTROL GTX 10W30 MOTOR OIL 0.73 EA CASGTX1040 CASTROL GTX 10W40 MOTOR OIL 0.75 EA				
Date: 01/21/2013 Vendor Catalog by Product Line Time: 17:40:25 ABC DISTRIBUTION Page: 1 Vendor Code: 123459 - CASTROL OIL CO Contact: STEVE ISSACSON Phone: 512 344 9000 Currency: STD U.S. DOLLARS Product Line: OIL OIL PODUCTS Item Code/Vend ItemDescriptionItem CostUnit CAS1030 CASTROL (R) 10W30 MOTOR OIL 0.64 EA CAS1040 CASTROL 10W40 MOTOR OIL 0.69 EA CASGTX1030 CASTROL GTX 10W30 MOTOR OIL 0.73 EA CASGTX1040 CASTROL GTX 10W40 MOTOR OIL 0.75 EA				1
Date: 01/21/2013 Vendor Catalog by Product Line Time: 17:40:25 ABC DISTRIBUTION Page: 1 Vendor Code: 123459 - CASTROL OIL CO Contact: STEVE ISSACSON Phone: 512 344 9000 Currency: STD U.S. DOLLARS Product Line: OIL OIL PODUCTS Item Code/Vend ItemDescriptionItem CostUnit CAS1030 CASTROL (R) 10W30 MOTOR OIL 0.64 EA CAS1040 CASTROL 10W40 MOTOR OIL 0.69 EA CASGTX1030 CASTROL GTX 10W30 MOTOR OIL 0.73 EA CASGTX1040 CASTROL GTX 10W40 MOTOR OIL 0.75 EA				
Date: 01/21/2013       Vendor Catalog By Product Line         Time: 17:40:25       ABC DISTRIBUTION       Page: 1	D	Handar Carolan by Braders Idea		=
Vendor Code: 123459 - CASTROL OIL CO         Contact: STEVE ISSACSON         Phone: 512 344 9000         Currency: STD         U.S. DOLLARS	Date: 01/21/2013 Time: 17:40:25	ABC DISTRIBUTION	Page: 1	
Vendor Code: 123459 - CASTROL OIL CO Contact: STEVE ISSACSON Phone: 512 344 9000 Currency: STD U.S. DOLLARS Product Line: OIL OIL PODUCTS Item Code/Vend ItemDescriptionItem CostUnit CAS1030 CASTROL (R) 10W30 MOTOR OIL 0.64 EA CAS1040 CASTROL 10W40 MOTOR OIL 0.69 EA CASGTX1030 CASTROL GTX 10W30 MOTOR OIL 0.73 EA CASGTX1040 CASTROL GTX 10W40 MOTOR OIL 0.75 EA				
Contact: STEVE ISSACSON       Phone: 512 344 9000         Currency: STD       U.S. DOLLARS         Product Line: OIL       OIL PODUCTS         Item Code/Vend ItemDescriptionItem CostUnit         CAS1030       CASTROL (R) 10W30 MOTOR OIL       0.64 EA         CAS1040       CASTROL 10W40 MOTOR OIL       0.69 EA         CASGTX1030       CASTROL GTX 10W30 MOTOR OIL       0.73 EA         CASGTX1040       CASTROL GTX 10W40 MOTOR OIL       0.75 EA	Vendor Code: 123459	- CASTROL OIL CO		
Currency: STD       U.S. DOLLARS         Product Line: OIL       OIL PODUCTS         Item Code/Vend ItemDescriptionItem CostUnit         CAS1030       CASTROL (R) 10W30 MOTOR OIL         0.64       EA         CAS1040       CASTROL 10W40 MOTOR OIL         0.69       EA         CASGTX1030       CASTROL GTX 10W30 MOTOR OIL         0.73       EA         CASGTX1040       CASTROL GTX 10W40 MOTOR OIL	Contact: STEVE	ISSACSON Phone: 512 344 9000		
Product Line: OIL       OIL PODUCTS         Item Code/Vend ItemDescriptionItem CostUnit         CAS1030       CASTROL (R) 10W30 MOTOR OIL       0.64       EA         CAS1040       CASTROL 10W40 MOTOR OIL       0.69       EA         CASGTX1030       CASTROL GTX 10W30 MOTOR OIL       0.73       EA         CASGTX1040       CASTROL GTX 10W40 MOTOR OIL       0.75       EA	Currency: STD	U.S. DOLLARS		
Item Code/Vend ItemDescriptionItem CostUnitCAS1030CASTROL (R) 10W30 MOTOR OIL0.64EACAS1040CASTROL 10W40 MOTOR OIL0.69EACASGTX1030CASTROL GTX 10W30 MOTOR OIL0.73EACASGTX1040CASTROL GTX 10W40 MOTOR OIL0.75EA	Product Line: OIL	OIL PODUCTS		
Item Code/Vend ItemDescriptionItem CostUnit           CAS1030         CASTROL (R) 10W30 MOTOR OIL         0.64         EA           CAS1040         CASTROL 10W40 MOTOR OIL         0.69         EA           CASGTX1030         CASTROL GTX 10W30 MOTOR OIL         0.73         EA           CASGTX1040         CASTROL GTX 10W40 MOTOR OIL         0.75         EA				
CASID30CASIROL (R) 10030 MOTOR OIL0.64EACASI040CASTROL 10040 MOTOR OIL0.69EACASGTX1030CASTROL GTX 10030 MOTOR OIL0.73EACASGTX1040CASTROL GTX 10040 MOTOR OIL0.75EA	Item Code/Vend I	temDescription	Item CostUnit	
CASID40CASIROL ISW40 MOTOR OIL0.69LACASGTX1030CASTROL GTX 10W30 MOTOR OIL0.73EACASGTX1040CASTROL GTX 10W40 MOTOR OIL0.75EA	CAS1030	CASTROL (R) 10030 MOTOR OIL	0.64 EA	
CASETX1030 CASTROL GIX 10030 MOTOR OIL 0.73 EA CASETX1040 CASTROL GIX 10040 MOTOR OIL 0.75 EA		CASIROL IUW40 MOTOR OIL	0.69 EA	
CASGIX1040 CASTROL GIX 10W40 MOTOR OIL 0.75 EA	CASIONO	an amplot amu daviaa Mamon att	0 50 53	
	CASITV1030	CASTROL GTX 10W30 MOTOR OIL	0.73 EA	
	CASIG40 CASGTX1030 CASGTX1040	CASTROL GTX 10W30 MOTOR OIL CASTROL GTX 10W40 MOTOR OIL	0.73 EA 0.75 EA	

# **Print Missing Catalog Entries**

## Menu Path: RL-1-b-h

This report that lists items not set up in the item catalog or in the catalog but missing the script code and therefore not picked up in the replenishment process.

📴 Print Missing Catalog	Entries		- • •
File Navigate Help			
0 0 0 0 0			
	<u> </u>		
			<u>^</u>
			=
Date: 01/21/2013	ABC DISTRIBUTION		
Time: 17:44:34	Missing Catalog Entries	Page: 1	
Item Code	Description	In Catalog but	
		Line Code Missing	
1001	EMULSION		
100100	3X5.5" WITH PAPER INSERT		
100180	PAPER INSERT (GRAPHICS)		
1002	NEOPRENE		
100262-01	PAPER-SIGNWICH (GREY)		
100262-03	PAPER-SIGNWICH (GREY)		
100262-05	PAPER SIGNWICH (WHITE)		
1003	FIREPROOFING		
100306-29	LENS - STD WIN 2X5.5"		
100306-38	LENS - STD 1X5.5"		
100389-03-AL	EXT - 3" WIDE-CLEAR		
100389-03-R	EXTRUSION 3"		<b>v</b>
•	III		•

## **Print Period Definitions**

### Menu Path: RL-1-c-d



# **Print Lookup Definitions**

Menu Patch: RL-1-d-d

Print Lookup Definitions	- • ×
File Navigate Help	
0 0 0 0 1	
	*
	E
Date: 01/21/2013 Look-Up Definitions	
Time: 17:51:57 ABC DISTRIBUTION Pag	/e: 1
Resultant: LOOKUP USG Description: USED A HARD CODE FUNCTION	
Select Statement: select sum(user_override) from stiusged, stiusger	
Hard Filter: stiusged.doc_no = stiusger.doc_no	
- Where Columns	
item_code	
script_code	
warehouse_code	
Resultant: abc value Description: ABC VALUE	
Select Statement: select abc code from stilocar	
Hard Filter: 1=1	
- Where Columns	
item_code	
warehouse_code	
Resultant: avg_lead_time Description: AvgRAGE LEAD TIME BASED ON Select Statement: select ata days from stovendr stuctlad	AIA
Hard Filter: strendr yend code = stuction yendor code and stuc	
tlgd.primary vendor = 'Y'	
- Where Columns	
item_code	
Resultant: cost Description: ITEM/VENDOR COST	
Select Statement: select round(cost/purch_factor,4) from stuctlgd	
Hard Filter: 1=1	
- where columns	
line code	
	<b>-</b>

## **Print Preset Formulas**

Menu Path: RL-1-d-e

Print Pre-Set Formulas	
File Navigate Help	
🙂 🔇 🔇 🖉 🧶 🍥	
Date: 01/21/2013 Pre-Set Formula	as E
	Page: 1
Resultant: Usage30 Description: AV Formula: usage sum/2	G USAGE LAST 30 DAYS
Resultant: avail_qty Description: AV Formula: gtv on hand + on po - on order - f	AILABLE QTY rom tran + to tr
an - standing_ord - prod_ord_out +	prod_ord_in
Resultant: days in month Description: NU	MBER OF DAYS IN A MONTH
Formula: 30	
Resultant: eoq Description: EC	ONOMIC REORDER QUANTITY
Formula: @ ( ( 24 * r_cost * usage_in_month * cost ) )	) / ( k_factor
Resultant: future_po Description: FU	TURE PO
Formula: future_po	
Resultant: high_point Description: HI	GH POINT
Formula: eoq + order_point	
Resultant: ld_time_in_day Description: LEA	AD TIME IN DAYS
Formula: avg_lead_time	
Resultant: ld_time_in_mon Description: AV	ERAGE LEAD TIME IN MONTHLY U
Formula: avg_lead_time / days_in_month	
Resultant: ld_time_in_wk Description: LE	AD TIME IN WEEKS
Formula: ( avg_lead_time + 7 ) / 7	

# **Print Calculations**

Menu Path: RI-1-d-f

Print Calculations			
File Navigate Help			
	•		
	₽		
			*
Date: 01/21/2013	Replenishment Calculations		
Time: 17:53:38	ABC DISTRIBUTION	Page: 3	1 🗐
Replenishment Code:	ABC Description: ABC REORDER POINTS		-
	-		
- Resultant	- Formula	т с	
days_in_month	30	C N	
usage_rate	usage_sum / no_periods	D N	
usage_in_month	usage_rate / days_in_month	UY	
ld_tm_in_month		D Y	
sa	usage_in_month * id_time_in_mon * safety	D Y	
order point	_ractor usage in month * 1d time in mon + sa	p v	
line point	order point + ( usage in month * rc )	LY	
eog	@ ( ( 24 * r cost * usage in month ) / (	DY	
	k factor * cost ) )		
sugg_reorder	order_point - avail_qty	s y	
Replenishment Code:	DAILY Description: DAILY REPLENISHMENT		-
- Resultant	- Formula	т с	-
usage_rate	usage_sum / no_periods	D Y	
ld_time_in_day	avg_lead_time	C N	
sa_days	usage_rate * ld_time_in_day * safety_fac	D Y	
	tor	_	
ordr_pt_day	usage_rate * ld_time_in_day + sa_days	LY	
avail_qty	qty_on_hand + on_po - on_order - from_tr	D Y	
	an + to_tran - standing_ord - prod_ord_o		
sugg_ord_day	ordr_pt_day - avail_qty	s y	
			-
Replenishment Code:	GPA-MN Description: REORDER FORMULA-MONTH	ILY	Ψ.

# **Print Script Definitions**

### Menu Path: RL-1-e-b

File Navigate Help  Solution  Soluti	📴 Print Script Defini	tions				×	
<ul> <li>         O G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G</li></ul>	File Navigate Help						
Date: 01/21/2013       Print Script Definitions         Time: 17:55:45       ABC DISTRIBUTION       Page: 1         Script Code: 123460 - MONTHLY REORDER       Period: MONTH       Replenishment: SOQ         Poduct Line: 123460       Warehouse: MAIN         Starting Date: 05/01/2011       Ending Date: 12/31/2099         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N         Bays Delay -       0       0         Last Activity - 02/01/2013       02/01/2013       02/01/2013         Script Code: 123461 - MONTHLY REORDER       Period: MONTH       Replenishment: SOQ         Product Line: 123461       Warehouse: MAIN         Starting Date: 05/01/2011       Ending Date: 12/31/2099         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N         Bays Delay -       0       0         Last Activity - 02/01/2013       02/01/2013       02/01/2013         Starting Date: 05/01/2011       Ending Date: 12/31/2099       Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N       N       N         Days Delay -       0       0       0         Last Activity - 02/01/2013       03/03/2013       03/03/2013         Stript Code: 123462 - MONTHLY		N 🔺					
Date: 01/21/2013       Print Script Definitions         Time: 17:55:45       ABC DISTRIBUTION       Page: 1         Script Code: 123460 - MONTHLY REORDER       Period: MONTH       Replenishment: SOQ         Product Line: 123460       Warehouse: MAIN         Starting Date: 05/01/2011       Ending Date: 12/31/2099       Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N       N         Days Delay -       0       0         Last Activity - 02/01/2013       02/01/2013       03/03/2013         Script Code: 123461 - MONTHLY REORDER       Period: MONTH         Period: MONTH       Replenishment: SOQ         Product Line: 123461       Warehouse: MAIN         Starting Date: 05/01/2011       Ending Date: 12/31/2095         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N         N       N         Days Delay -       0         Old/2013       03/03/2013         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N         Nat Tx Date - 03/03/2013       03/03/2013         Script Code: 123462 - MONTHLY REORDER         Period: MONTH       Replenishment: SOQ         Product Line: 123462       Warehouse: MAIN		<b>0</b>   191					
Date: 01/21/2013       Print Script Definitions         Time: 17:55:45       ABC DISTRIBUTION       Page: 1         Script Code: 123460 - MONTHLY REORDER         Period: MONTH       Replenishment: SOQ         Product Line: 123460       Warehouse: MAIN         Starting Date: 05/01/2011       Ending Date: 12/31/2099         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N         Days Delay -       0         0       0         Last Activity - 02/01/2013       02/01/2013         0       0         Last Activity - 02/01/2013       03/03/2013         Orduct Line: 123461       Warehouse: MAIN         Starting Date: 05/01/2011       Ending Date: 12/31/2099         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N         Marehouse: MAIN         Starting Date: 02/01/2013       02/01/2013         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N         Next Trx Date - 03/03/2013       03/03/2013         Marehouse: MAIN         Starting Date: 123462       Marehouse: MAIN         Starting Date: 05/01/2011       Ending Date: 12/31/2019         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommen							
Date: 01/21/2013       Print Script Definitions         Time: 17:55:45       ABC DISTRIBUTION       Page: 1         Script Code: 123460 - MONTHLY REORDER         Period: MONTH       Replenishment: SOQ         Product Line: 123460       Warehouse: MAIN         Starting Date: 05/01/2011       Ending Date: 12/31/2099         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N         Days Delay -       0         O       0         Last Activity - 02/01/2013       02/01/2013         Oscript Code:       123461 - MONTHLY REORDER         Period: MONTH       Replenishment: SOQ         Product Line:       123461         Warehouse:       MAIN         Starting Date:       05/01/2011         Endit MONTH       Replenishment: SOQ         Product Line:       123461         Warehouse:       MAIN         Starting Date:       05/01/2011         Endit Date:       02/01/2013         O2/01/2013       02/01/2013         Skip - N       N         Nays Delay -       0         O       0         Last Activity - 02/01/2013       02/01/2013         Script Code:       123462 - MONTH							
Date: 01/21/2013       Print Script Definitions         Time: 17:55:45       ABC DISTRIBUTION       Page: 1         Script Code: 123460 - MONTHLY REORDER       Period: MONTH       Replenishment: SOQ         Product Line: 123460       Warehouse: MAIN         Starting Date: 05/01/2011       Ending Date: 12/31/2099         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip = N       N         Days Delay -       0       0         Last Activity - 02/01/2013       02/01/2013       03/03/2013         Script Code: 123461 - MONTHLY REORDER       Period: MONTH       Replenishment: SOQ         Product Line: 123461 - MONTHLY REORDER       Period: MONTH       Replenishment: SOQ         Product Line: 123461 - MONTHLY REORDER       Dage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip = N       N       N         Days Delay -       0       0         Last Activity - 02/01/2013       02/01/2013       02/01/2013         Marchouse: MAIN       Starting Date: 03/03/2013       03/03/2013         Script Code: 123462 - MONTHLY REORDER       Period: MONTH       Replenishment: SOQ         Period: MONTH       Replenishment: SOQ       Product Line: 123462       Warehouse: MAIN         Starting Date: 03/03/2013       03/03/2013       03/03/2013<							
Date: 01/21/2013 Print Script Definitions Time: 17:55:45 ABC DISTRIBUTION Page: 1 Script Code: 123460 - MONTHLY REORDER Period: MONTH Replenishment: SOQ Product Line: 123460 Warehouse: MAIN Starting Date: 05/01/2011 Ending Date: 12/31/2099 Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations Skip - N N N Days Delay - 0 0 0 Last Activity - 02/01/2013 02/01/2013 02/01/2013 Next Trx Date - 03/03/2013 03/03/2013 Next Trx Date - 03/03/2013 03/03/2013 Stript Code: 123461 - MONTHLY REORDER Period: MONTH Replenishment: SOQ Product Line: 123461 Warehouse: MAIN Starting Date: 05/01/2011 Ending Date: 12/31/2099 Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations Skip - N N N N Days Delay - 0 0 0 Last Activity - 02/01/2013 02/01/2013 02/01/2013 Next Trx Date - 03/03/2013 03/03/2013 Next Trx Date - 03/03/2013 03/03/2013 Stript Code: 123462 - MONTHLY REORDER Period: MONTH Replenishment: SOQ Days Delay - 0 0 0 Last Activity - 02/01/2013 02/01/2013 02/01/2013 Next Trx Date - 03/03/2013 03/03/2013 Next Trx Date - 03/03/2013 03/03/2013 Stript Code: 123462 - MONTHLY REORDER Period: MONTH Replenishment: SOQ Product Line: 123462 MONTHLY REORDER Period: MONTH Replenishment: SOQ Product Line: 123462 MontHLY REORDER Period: MONTH Replenishment: SOQ Product Line: 123462 Narehouse: MAIN Starting Date: 05/01/2011 Ending Date: 12/31/2099 Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations Skip - N N N N Days Delay - 0 0 0 Last Activity - 02/01/2013 02/01/2013 02/01/2013 Nater Try Date: 05/01/2011 Ending Date: 12/31/2099 Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations Skip - N N N N Days Delay - 0 0 0 Last Activity - 02/01/2013 02/01/2013 02/01/2013 Part Try Date: 05/01/2011 Ending Date: 12/31/2099 Date Try Date: 05/01/2013 02/01/2013 02/01/2013 Part Try Date 00/02/0102 02/01/2013 02/01/2013						=	
Date: 01/21/2013       Print Script Definitions         Time: 17:55:45       ABC DISTRIBUTION       Page: 1         Script Code: 123460 - MONTHLY REORDER         Period: MONTH       Replenishment: SOQ         Product Line: 123460       Warehouse: MAIN         Starting Date: 05/01/2011       Ending Date: 12/31/2099         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N         Days Delay -       0         Last Activity - 02/01/2013       02/01/2013         Script Code: 123461 - MONTHLY REORDER         Period: MONTH       Replenishment: SOQ         Product Line: 123461       Warehouse: MAIN         Starting Date: 05/01/2011       Ending Date: 12/31/2099         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N         Marehouse: MAIN         Starting Date: 05/01/2011       Ending Date: 12/31/2099         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N         Nage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N         Days Delay -       0         Olizast Activity - 02/01/2013       02/01/2013         Script Code: 123462 - MONTHLY REORDER         Period: M							
Time: 17:55:45       ABC DISTRIBUTION       Page: 1         Script Code: 123460 - MONTHLY REORDER       Period: MONTH       Replenishment: SOQ         Product Line: 123460       Warehouse: MAIN         Starting Date: 05/01/2011       Ending Date: 12/31/2099         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N         Days Delay -       0         0       0         Last Activity - 02/01/2013       02/01/2013         03/03/2013       03/03/2013         Script Code: 123461 - MONTHLY REORDER         Period: MONTH       Replenishment: SOQ         Product Line: 123461       Warehouse: MAIN         Starting Date: 05/01/2011       Ending Date: 12/31/2099         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N         N       N         Days Delay -       0         0       0         Last Activity - 02/01/2013       02/01/2013         03/03/2013       03/03/2013         Next Trx Date - 03/03/2013       03/03/2013         Next Trx Date - 03/03/2013       03/03/2013         Script Code: 123462 - MONTHLY REORDER       Period: MONTH         Replenishment: SOQ       Product Line: 123462	Date: 01/21/203	13 Pr	int Script Definitio	ons			
Script Code: 123460 - MONTHLY REORDER         Period: MONTH       Replenishment: SOQ         Product Line: 123460       Warehouse: MAIN         Starting Date: 05/01/2011       Ending Date: 12/31/2099         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N         Days Delay -       0         1ast Activity - 02/01/2013       02/01/2013         Script Code: 123461 - MONTHLY REORDER         Period: MONTH       Replenishment: SOQ         Product Line: 123461 - MONTHLY REORDER         Period: MONTH       Replenishment: SOQ         Product Line: 123461 - MONTHLY REORDER         Deriod: MONTH       Replenishment: SOQ         Product Line: 123461 - MONTHLY REORDER         Days Delay -       0         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N         Nage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N         Days Delay -       0         0       0         Last Activity - 02/01/2013       02/01/2013         Script Code: 123462 - MONTHLY REORDER         Period: MONTH       Replenishment: SOQ         Product Line: 123462       Warehouse: MAIN         Starting Date: 05/01/2011       En	Time: 17:55:45		ABC DISTRIBUTION		Page: 1		
Script Code: 123460 - MONTHLY REPERSER         Period: MONTH       Replenishment: SOQ         Product Line: 123460       Warehouse: MAIN         Starting Date: 05/01/2011       Ending Date: 12/31/2099         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N         Days Delay -       0         Lest Activity - 02/01/2013       02/01/2013         Next Trx Date - 03/03/2013       03/03/2013         Script Code: 123461       MONTH Replenishment: SOQ         Product Line: 123461       Warehouse: MAIN         Starting Date: 05/01/2011       Ending Date: 12/31/2099         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N         N       N         Days Delay -       0         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N         N       N         Days Delay -       0         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N         Next Trx Date - 03/03/2013       03/03/2013         Olizast Activity - 02/01/2013       02/01/2013         Script Code: 123462       MONTHLY REORDER         Product Line: 123462       Warehouse: MAIN							
Period: MONTH       Replenishment: SOQ         Product Line: 123460       Warehouse: MAIN         Starting Date: 05/01/2011       Ending Date: 12/31/2099         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N         Days Delay -       0         1 Last Activity - 02/01/2013       02/01/2013         Next Trx Date -       03/03/2013         Script Code:       123461         MONTH       Replenishment:         Starting Date:       05/01/2011         Ending Date:       12/31/2099         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N         N       N         Days Delay -       0         0       0         Last Activity -       02/01/2013         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N         N       N         Days Delay -       0         O       0         Last Activity -       02/01/2013         O2/01/2013       03/03/2013         Script Code:       123462         Warehouse:       MAIN         Starting Date:       05/01/2011         Ending Date:	Script Code:	123460 - MONTH	LY REORDER				
Product Line: 123460       Warehouse: MAIN         Starting Date: 05/01/2011       Ending Date: 12/31/2099         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N         Days Delay -       0         Last Activity - 02/01/2013       02/01/2013         Next Trx Date - 03/03/2013       03/03/2013         Script Code: 123461 - MONTHLY REORDER         Period: MONTH       Replenishment: SOQ         Product Line: 123461       Warehouse: MAIN         Starting Date: 05/01/2011       Ending Date: 12/31/2099         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N         N       N         Days Delay -       0         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N         Next Trx Date - 03/03/2013       02/01/2013         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N         Next Trx Date - 03/03/2013       03/03/2013         Script Code: 123462 - MONTHLY REORDER         Period: MONTH       Replenishment: SOQ         Product Line: 123462 Warehouse: MAIN         Starting Date: 05/01/2011       Ending Date: 12/31/2099         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations <th>Period:</th> <th>MONTH</th> <th>Replenishment: SOQ</th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th>	Period:	MONTH	Replenishment: SOQ				
Starting Date: 05/01/2011       Inding Date: 12/31/2009         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N         Days Delay -       0         Last Activity - 02/01/2013       02/01/2013         Next Trx Date -       03/03/2013         Script Code:       123461 - MONTHLY REORDER         Period:       MONTH         Replenishment:       SOQ         Product Line:       123461         Warehouse:       MAIN         Starting Date:       05/01/2011         Ending Date:       12/31/2099         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N         N       N         Days Delay -       0         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N         N       N         Days Delay -       0         Ol/Last Activity -       02/01/2013         O3/03/2013       03/03/2013         Script Code:       123462 - MONTHLY REORDER         Period:       MONTH         Replenishment:       SOQ         Product Line:       123462         Warehouse:       MAIN         Starting Date	Product Line:	123460	Warehouse: MAIN	(2000			
Skip         N         N         N           Days Delay         -         0         0           Last Activity         02/01/2013         02/01/2013         02/01/2013           Next Trx Date         03/03/2013         03/03/2013         03/03/2013           Script Code:         123461         MonTHLY REORDER           Period:         MONTH         Replenishment:         SOQ           Product Line:         123461         Warehouse:         MAIN           Starting Date:         05/01/2011         Ending Date:         12/31/2099           Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N         N           Skip - N         N         N         N           Days Delay -         0         0         0           Last Activity - 02/01/2013         02/01/2013         03/03/2013         03/03/2013	Starting Date:	US/UI/2011	Ending Date: 12/3.	- Ruy Decommondations			
Days Delay -       0       0         Last Activity - 02/01/2013       02/01/2013       02/01/2013         Next Trx Date -       03/03/2013       03/03/2013         Script Code:       123461 - MONTHLY REORDER         Period:       MONTH       Replenishment:         Starting Date:       05/01/2011       Ending Date:       12/31/2099         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations       Skip - N       N         Sys Delay -       0       0       0         Last Activity -       02/01/2013       02/01/2013       02/01/2013         Next Trx Date -       03/03/2013       03/03/2013       03/03/2013         Script Code:       123462       MonTHLY REORDER         Period:       MONTH       Replenishment:       SQ         Product Line:       123462       MONTHLY REORDER         Script Code:       123462       MONTHLY REORDER         Period:       MONTH       Replenishment:       SQ         Product Line:       123462       Warehouse:       MAIN         Starting Date:       05/01/2011       Ending Date:       12/31/2099         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations       Skip - N       N         Skip - N       N	Skin	- N	N N	N N			
Last Activity - 02/01/2013 02/01/2013 02/01/2013 Next Trx Date - 03/03/2013 03/03/2013 03/03/2013 Script Code: 123461 - MONTHLY REORDER Period: MONTH Replenishment: SOQ Product Line: 123461 Warehouse: MAIN Starting Date: 05/01/2011 Ending Date: 12/31/2099 Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations Skip - N N N Days Delay - 0 0 Last Activity - 02/01/2013 02/01/2013 02/01/2013 Next Trx Date - 03/03/2013 03/03/2013 03/03/2013 Script Code: 123462 - MONTHLY REORDER Period: MONTH Replenishment: SOQ Product Line: 123462 Warehouse: MAIN Starting Date: 05/01/2011 Ending Date: 12/31/2099 Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations Skip - N N N Days Delay - 0 0 Last Activity - 02/01/2011 Ending Date: 12/31/2099 Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations Skip - N N N Days Delay - 0 0 Last Activity - 02/01/2013 02/01/2013 02/01/2013	Davs Delay	- "	0	0			
Next Trx Date - 03/03/2013       03/03/2013       03/03/2013         Script Code: 123461 - MONTHLY REORDER       Period: MONTH       Replenishment: SOQ         Product Line: 123461       Warehouse: MAIN         Starting Date: 05/01/2011       Ending Date: 12/31/2099         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N         Days Delay -       0         03/03/2013       02/01/2013         Next Trx Date - 03/03/2013       02/01/2013         Script Code: 123462 - MONTHLY REORDER         Period: MONTH       Replenishment: SOQ         Product Line: 123462       Warehouse: MAIN         Starting Date: 05/01/2011       Ending Date: 12/31/2019         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N         N       N         Days Delay -       0         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N         N       N         Days Delay -       0         0       0         Last Activity - 02/01/2013       02/01/2013         Net Tro Date       02/02/0120         Starting Date       02/01/2013         Starting Date       02/01/2013 <tr< th=""><th>Last Activity</th><th>- 02/01/2013</th><th>02/01/2013</th><th>02/01/2013</th><th></th><th></th></tr<>	Last Activity	- 02/01/2013	02/01/2013	02/01/2013			
Script Code: 123461 - MONTHLY REORDER         Period: MONTH       Replenishment: SOQ         Product Line: 123461       Warehouse: MAIN         Starting Date: 05/01/2011       Ending Date: 12/31/2099         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N         Days Delay -       0         0       0         Last Activity - 02/01/2013       02/01/2013         Next Trx Date - 03/03/2013       03/03/2013         Script Code: 123462 - MONTHLY REORDER         Period: MONTH       Replenishment: SOQ         Product Line: 123462       Warehouse: MAIN         Starting Date: 05/01/2011       Ending Date: 12/31/2099         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N         N       N         Days Delay -       0         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N         N       N         Days Delay -       0         O       0         Last Activity - 02/01/2013       02/01/2013         Net Tro Date       02/02/01/2013         Start Date       02/02/01/2013	Next Trx Date	- 03/03/2013	03/03/2013	03/03/2013			
Script Code: 123461 - MONTHLY REORDER         Period: MONTH       Replenishment: SOQ         Product Line: 123461       Warehouse: MAIN         Starting Date: 05/01/2011       Ending Date: 12/31/2099         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N         Days Delay -       0         Last Activity - 02/01/2013       02/01/2013         Next Trx Date -       03/03/2013         Script Code: 123462 - MONTHLY REORDER         Period: MONTH       Replenishment: SOQ         Product Line: 123462       Warehouse: MAIN         Starting Date: 05/01/2011       Ending Date: 12/31/2099         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N         N       N         Days Delay -       0         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N         N       N         Days Delay -       0         Last Activity - 02/01/2013       02/01/2013         Newt Trre Date       02/02/0120							
Period: MONTH       Replenishment: SOQ         Product Line: 123461       Warehouse: MAIN         Starting Date: 05/01/2011       Ending Date: 12/31/2099         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N         Days Delay -       0         Last Activity - 02/01/2013       02/01/2013         Next Trx Date -       03/03/2013         Script Code:       123462         Period:       MONTH         Replenishment:       SOQ         Product Line:       123462         Warehouse:       MAIN         Starting Date:       05/01/2011         Ending Date:       12/31/2099         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N         N       N         Days Delay -       0         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N         N       N         Days Delay -       0         O       0         Last Activity -       02/01/2013       02/01/2013         Net       Term Date       02/02/0012	Script Code:	123461 - MONTH	LY REORDER				
Product Line: 123401     Warehouse: MAIN       Starting Date: 05/01/2011     Ending Date: 12/31/2099       Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations       Skip - N     N       Days Delay -     0       0     0       Last Activity - 02/01/2013     02/01/2013       Next Trx Date -     03/03/2013       Oscript Code: 123462 - MONTHLY REORDER       Period: MONTH     Replenishment: SOQ       Product Line: 123462     Warehouse: MAIN       Starting Date: 05/01/2011     Ending Date: 12/31/2099       Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations       Skip - N     N       N     N       Days Delay -     0       0     0       Last Activity -     0/0/2013       02/01/2013     02/01/2013       02/01/2013     02/01/2013	Period:	MONTH	Replenishment: SOQ				
Starting Date: 05/01/2011       Finding Date: 12/31/2039         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N         Days Delay -       0         Last Activity - 02/01/2013       02/01/2013         Next Trx Date - 03/03/2013       03/03/2013         Script Code: 123462 - MONTHLY REORDER         Period: MONTH       Replenishment: SOQ         Product Line: 123462       Warehouse: MAIN         Starting Date: 05/01/2011       Ending Date: 12/31/2099         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N         N       N         Days Delay -       0         0       0         Last Activity -       02/01/2013         02/01/2013       02/01/2013         02/01/2013       02/01/2013	Product Line:	123461	Warenouse: MAIN	/2000			
Skip - N         N         N           Days Delay -         0         0           Last Activity - 02/01/2013         02/01/2013         02/01/2013           Next Trx Date - 03/03/2013         03/03/2013         03/03/2013           Script Code:         123462         MONTHLY REORDER           Period:         MONTH         Replenishment:         SOQ           Product Line:         123462         Warehouse:         MAIN           Starting Date:         05/01/2011         Ending Date:         12/31/2099           Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N         N           Skip - N         N         N         Days Delay -         0         0           Last Activity - 02/01/2013         02/01/2013         02/01/2013         02/01/2013         02/01/2013	Starting Date:	Usero Treck	ing - Calculations	- Ruy Recommendations			
Days Delay -       0       0         Last Activity - 02/01/2013       02/01/2013       02/01/2013         Next Trx Date -       03/03/2013       03/03/2013         Script Code:       123462       MONTHLY REORDER         Period:       MONTH       Replenishment:         Starting Date:       05/01/2011       Ending Date:         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N         Days Delay -       0         0       0         Last Activity -       02/01/2013         02/01/2013       02/01/2013         02/01/2013       02/01/2013	Skin	- N	N	N N			
Last Activity - 02/01/2013 02/01/2013 02/01/2013 Next Trx Date - 03/03/2013 03/03/2013 03/03/2013 	Davs Delay	- "	0	0			
Next Trx Date -         03/03/2013         03/03/2013           Script Code:         123462 -         MONTHLY REORDER           Period:         MONTH         Replenishment:         SOQ           Product Line:         123462         Warehouse:         MAIN           Starting Date:         05/01/2011         Ending Date:         12/31/2099           Usage Tracking -         Calculations -         Buy Recommendations           Skip -         N         N           Days Delay -         0         0           Last Activity -         02/01/2013         02/01/2013           Next Activity -         02/02/2012         02/02/2012	Last Activity	- 02/01/2013	02/01/2013	02/01/2013			
Script Code: 123462 - MONTHLY REORDER Period: MONTH Replenishment: SOQ Product Line: 123462 Warehouse: MAIN Starting Date: 05/01/2011 Ending Date: 12/31/2099 Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations Skip - N N N Days Delay - 0 0 Last Activity - 02/01/2013 02/01/2013 02/01/2013 Next Two Days 02/02/00120	Next Trx Date	- 03/03/2013	03/03/2013	03/03/2013			
Script Code: 123462 - MONTHLY REORDER         Period: MONTH       Replenishment: SOQ         Product Line: 123462       Warehouse: MAIN         Starting Date: 05/01/2011       Ending Date: 12/31/2099         Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations         Skip - N       N         Days Delay -       0         Last Activity - 02/01/2013       02/01/2013         Next       Day(02/0012)         Color Day       02/02/2012							
Period: MONTH Replenishment: SOQ Product Line: 123462 Warehouse: MAIN Starting Date: 05/01/2011 Ending Date: 12/31/2099 Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations Skip - N N N Days Delay - 0 0 Last Activity - 02/01/2013 02/01/2013 Next Two Days 02/02/0212 02/02/2012	Script Code:	123462 - MONTH	LY REORDER				
Product Line:     123462     warehouse:     main       Starting Date:     05/01/2011     Ending Date:     12/31/2099       Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations       Skip - N     N       Days Delay -     0       Last Activity -     02/01/2013     02/01/2013       Next     Tarp Days     02/02/0212	Period:	MONTH	Replenishment: SOQ				
Starting bate:     Usage Tracking - Calculations - Buy Recommendations       Skip - N     N       Days Delay -     0       Last Activity -     02/01/2013       02/02/0212     02/02/0212	Product Line:	123462	Warenouse: MAIN	(2000			
Skip - N         N         N           Days Delay -         0         0           Last Activity - 02/01/2013         02/01/2013         02/01/2013	Starting Date:	Usydi/2011	ing - Calculations -	- Buy Decommendations			
Days Delay -         0         0           Last Activity -         02/01/2013         02/01/2013         02/01/2013           Number 202/02/2013         02/02/2013         02/02/2013         02/02/2013	Skip	- N	N	N			
Last Activity - 02/01/2013 02/01/2013 02/01/2013	Days Delay	-	0	0			
News Ten Date: 00/00/0010 00/00/0010 00/00/0010	Last Activity	- 02/01/2013	02/01/2013	02/01/2013			
Next IIX Date - 03/03/2013 03/03/2013 03/03/2013	Next Trx Date	- 03/03/2013	03/03/2013	03/03/2013		-	

## **Print Usage Summary**

#### Menu Path: RL-2-c

First selection criteria screen:

🔁 Enter Selection	🔄 Enter Selection Criteria				
File					
0					
	Selection Criteria				
Script Code:					
Item Code:					
Warehouse Code:					
Last Activity:	<b>!!</b>				
Next Activity:	<b>!!!</b>				
Period:					
Replenishment:					
Line Code:					
Buyer Code:					
🕑 ок	Cancel				
Enter code with wild	cards (?=any character,*=any cha	aracter set)			

### Second selection criteria screen:

If you only want to print the report for items where usage is a percentage greater than or less than the average usage for a certain number of periods enter your selection criteria in this screen. In this example only items with usage that is greater than or less than the average usage for the past six months will print.

Enter Selection Criteria	
File	
0	
Period Avg. To Use:	
OK Cancel	
Enter period average to use.	OVR

Print Usag	je Summary					
File Naviga	ate Help					
0 0	0 2 2 1	9				
		·				
Date: 01/	24/2012	Usage	Summary Benort			
Time: 18:	11:30	ABC	DISTRIBUTION		Page: 1	1
						- 1
Script Co	de: ATLANT	Last Activ	ity: 01/22/2013	Next Activity	: 02/21/2013	
Peri	.od: MONTH	Replenishm	ent: SOQ	Line Code	: SCM	
Buyer Co	de:					
Warehou	GO- ATLANTA	Ttem: 10	00	Stock Unit	· CI.	-
- Per No	- Start	- End	Activities	Usage	Override	
1	12/24/2012	01/22/2013	0.00	0.00	200.00	
2	11/24/2012	12/23/2012	0.00	0.00	500.00	
3	10/25/2012	11/23/2012	0.00	0.00	1000.00	
4	09/25/2012	10/24/2012	0.00	0.00	311.00	
5	08/26/2012	09/24/2012	0.00	0.00	97.00	
6	07/27/2012	08/25/2012	0.00	0.00	234.00	
7	06/27/2012	07/26/2012	0.00	0.00	456.00	
	05/20/2012	06/26/2012	0.00	0.00	34.00	
8	03/20/2012					
8 9	04/28/2012	05/27/2012	0.00	0.00	23.00	
8 9 10	04/28/2012 03/29/2012	05/27/2012 04/27/2012	0.00	0.00	23.00 67.00	
8 9 10 11	04/28/2012 03/29/2012 02/28/2012	05/27/2012 04/27/2012 03/28/2012	0.00 0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00 0.00	23.00 67.00 768.00	
8 9 10 11 12	04/28/2012 03/29/2012 02/28/2012 01/29/2012	05/27/2012 04/27/2012 03/28/2012 02/27/2012	0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00	23.00 67.00 768.00 234.00	

# Print Replenishment Data

Menu Path: RL-3-c

Enter Selection Criteria	_ • •
File Edit Help	
🙂 🛇 🐹 🗈 🖨 🗑 🔍 👔	
Selection Criteria	
Script Code:	
Vendor Code:	
Buyer Code:	
Item Code:	
Warehouse Code:	
Last Activity:	
Next Activity:	
Period:	
Replenishment:	
Line Code:	
CA OK Cancel	
Enter code with wildcards (?=any character,*=any character se	t) OVR

🕼 Message	×
Only print quantity greater than zero? (Y/N)	
Yes No	

Print Replenishme	ent Data	a			
ile Navigate H	elp				
0 0 0 0	ວ 👌	5			
		r 			
Date: 01/24/201	13	Replenishment C	alculations	_	
Time: 18:13:16		ABC DISTRI	BUTION	Pa	age: 1
Script Code:	ATT.AN	T Vendor Code	- sm		
Last Activity:	01/22	2013 Next Activity	02/21/2013		
Dent ed.		,,			
Period:	MONTH	Replenishment	: SOQ	Line Code: SCM	
Period:	MONTH	Replenishment	: SOQ	Line Code: SCM	
Period:  Warehouse: Al	MONTH 	I Replenishment	: SOQ I	Line Code: SCM 	L
Period: 	MONTH  LANTA - Type	I Replenishment	:: SOQ I mputed Value	Line Code: SCM tem: 20700 Override	
Period: Warehouse: Al LN - 2	LANTA D	<pre>I Replenishment</pre>	:: SOQ I uputed Value 421.00	Line Code: SCM 	[
Veriod: Warehouse: Al LN - 2 3	TLANTA - Type D U	<pre>I Replenishment Resultant Com usage_rate usage_in_month</pre>	:: SOQ I uputed Value 421.00 14.03	Line Code: SCM 	
Feriod: Warehouse: Al LN - 2 3 4	TLANTA - Type D U D	<pre>I Replenishment</pre>	:: SOQ Imputed Value 421.00 14.03 3.00	Line Code: SCM 	
Warehouse: AI 	D D D D D D D D	<pre>I Replenishment</pre>	:: SOQ I mputed Value 421.00 14.03 3.00 21.05	Line Code: SCM 	L
Varehouse: Al 	D LANTA - Type D U D L	<pre>I Replenishment Resultant Com usage_rate usage_in_month ld_time_in_mon sa order_point</pre>	:: SOQ I puted Value 421.00 14.03 3.00 21.05 63.15	Line Code: SCM 	
Varehouse: Al LN - 2 3 4 5 6 7	MONTH TLANTA - Type D U D L D	<pre>I Replenishment</pre>	:: SOQ I mputed Value 421.00 14.03 3.00 21.05 63.15 0.00	Line Code: SCM 	
Varehouse: Al 	MONTH TLANTA D U D D L D D D D D	<pre>I Replenishment</pre>	:: SOQ puted Value 421.00 14.03 3.00 21.05 63.15 0.00 0.00	Line Code: SCM 	
Varehouse: Al 	MONTH TLANTA - Type D U D L D D D D D D	<pre>k Replenishment Resultant Com usage_rate usage_in_month ld_time_in_mon sa order_point on_po on_order from_tran</pre>	:: SOQ puted Value 421.00 14.03 3.00 21.05 63.15 0.00 0.00 0.00	Line Code: SCM 	
Warehouse: AT 2 3 4 5 6 7 7 7 7 7	MONTH TLANTA - Type D D D L D D D D D D D	<pre>I Replenishment</pre>	:: SOQ puted Value 421.00 14.03 3.00 21.05 63.15 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00	Line Code: SCM tem: 20700 Override 421.00 14.03 3.00 21.05 63.15 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00	
Warehouse: AT 	ILANTA D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D	<pre>I Replenishment</pre>	:: SOQ I Iputed Value 421.00 14.03 3.00 21.05 63.15 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00	Line Code: SCM 	
Varehouse: AI 	TLANTA CLANTA D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D	<pre>k Replenishment Resultant Com usage_rate usage_in_month ld_time_in_mon sa order_point on_po on_order from_tran to_tran qty_on_hand standing_ord</pre>	:: SOQ I puted Value 421.00 14.03 3.00 21.05 63.15 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00	Line Code: SCM 	
Varehouse: AT 2 3 4 5 6 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7	ILANTA D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D	<pre>k Replenishment Resultant Com usage_rate usage_in_month ld_time_in_mon sa order_point on_po on_order from_tran to_tran qty_on_hand standing_ord prod_ord_in</pre>	:: SOQ I puted Value 421.00 14.03 3.00 21.05 63.15 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00	Line Code: SCM 	
Veriod: Warehouse: AT 2 3 4 5 6 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7	ILANTA D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D	<pre>k Replenishment Resultant Com usage_rate usage_in_month ld_time_in_mon sa order_point on_po on_order from_tran to_tran qty_on_hand standing_ord prod_ord_in prod_ord_out</pre>	:: SOQ puted Value 421.00 14.03 3.00 21.05 63.15 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00	Line Code: SCM 	L

## **Print Expedite Report**

#### Menu Path: RL-4-a

This report can also be exported to Excel

Enter Selection Criteria	
File	
0	
Selection Criteria	
Warehouse Code	
Vendor Code	
Script Code	
Item Code	
Cancel	
Enter code part with wildcards (?=any character,*=any	character set)



# **Print Recommendations**

### Menu Path: RL-5-c

The Enter Selection Criteria	
File	
<b>O</b>	
Select Buy	
Document No.:	
Product Line:	
Warehouse Code:	
Vendor Code:	
Buyer Code:	
OK Cancel	
Enter document number or range.	OVR



Print Recommendations				
ile Navigate Help				
9 3 9 9 9 🔅				
	D			
Jate: 01/24/2013	Buy Recommendations	3	Dama 1	
	ABC DISIRIBUTION		Page. 1	
Minimum: 1000.00 Sto	ck: 1171.24 Wh	se: ATLANTA Sc	ript: ATLANT	
Target: 1000.00 Nons	tk: 0.00 Lin	ie: SCM Pe	riod: MONTH	
Current: 1171.24 Volu	me: 0.000 Buy	/r: C	ycle: 1.00	
PO No.:	Weigh	it: 0.00Next	Rvw: 02/21/20	
Vendor: SCM - SMITH-CORON	A CORP.			
Item: 20700	Recommende	ed: 62.000 Ad	j. Qty:	
SCM REGENCY 10 P/W	Prie	ze: 6.5800	407.96	
	Volu	ne: 0.000	0.000	
Type: S ABC:	Weigh	it: 0.000	0.000	
UM: EA Disc: ROP:	63.15 Availab:	le: 1.000		
LT: 90 Usage:	14.000 Future 1	90 :		
Item: 20702	Recommende	ed: 116.000 Ad	j. Qty:	
	Pric	ze: 6.5800	763.28	
SCM REGENCY 12 P/W				
SCM REGENCY 12 P/W	Volu	ne: 0.000	0.000	
SCM REGENCY 12 P/W	Volu Weigl	ne: 0.000 1t: 0.000	0.000	
SCM REGENCY 12 P/W Type: S ABC: UM: EA Disc: ROP:	Volu Weigl 118.69 Availab	ne: 0.000 ht: 0.000 le: 2.000	0.000	

## **Create PO from Recommendations**

### Menu Path: RL-5-d

🔁 Select	
File	
<b>0</b>	
Buyer Code:	_
C OK Cancel	
Foter buyer code	OVR



## **Print Warehouse Buy Comparison**

#### Menu Path: RL-6-a

If you have multiple warehouse locations, it may that you have excess stock in one warehouse but the recommendations program is recommending you purchase stock for items that you are short on in another warehouse. This report lists all items where this is the case. The proper action to take in this situation is to transfer the product from the warehouse where there is an overage to the warehouse where there is a shortage and set the buy recommendation to 0 as you do not need to order at this time.

## **Print Warehouse Reallocation Report**

#### Menu Path; RL-6-b

This report can be run at any time and lists those items where there is an overstock in one warehouse location that should be transferred to another warehouse location.

You are first prompted to enter the number of periods of usage you like to base the results on. The # of periods is your replenishment periods. For example of you run replenishment daily one period is equal to one day.



The reallocate quantity formula for each warehouse is:

Total Reallocation Qty = Total available OH/Total Usage

Reallocate qty per warehouse = (Total reallocate quantity above \* warehouse usage)revised quantity on hand in the warehouse. **Chapter 5 - Sample Formulas** 

The following are sample formulas used for implementing various replenishment methods:

#### EOQ - Line Point

```
days_in_month = 28
usage_rate = usage_sum / no_periods
usage_in_month = usage_rate * days_in_month / days_duration
ld_tm_in_month = avg_lead_time / days_in_month
sa = usage_in_month * ld_tm_in_month * safety_factor
order_point = usage_in_month * ld_tm_in_month + sa
line_point = order_point + (usage_in_month * rc)
eoq = @ ((24 * r_cost * usage_in_month) / (k_factor * cost)
```

#### MIN/MAX

To implement the min/max replenishment method, define the replenishment code as MNM when assigning a script to the product line. The MNM (Min/Max) replenishment code consists of the following calculations:

```
days_in_month = 28
usage_rate = usage_sum / no_periods
usage_in_month = usage_rate * days_in_month / days_duration
ld_tm_in_month = avg_lead_time / days_in_month
sa = usage_in_month * ld_tm_in_month * safety_factor
order_point = usage_in_month * ld_tm_in_month + sa
line_point = order_point
eoq = @ ((24 * r_cost * usage_in_month) / (k_factor * cost)
high_point = eoq + order_point
sugg_reorder = high_point - qty_on_hand
```

#### Inventory Class Analysis (ABC)

This method requires that the item/location record have an inventory class of 1-13 assigned to it and entered into the ABC classification field. At this time it must be entered by the user. In the near future, a separate report/posting will be run to assign the [1-13] values into the ABC code field in the item/location (stilocar) record. To implement the ABC or Inventory Class Analysis method of replenishment, define the replenishment code as ABC when assigning a script to a product line. The ABC (Inventory Class Analysis) replenishment code consists of the following calculations:

```
days_in_month = 28
usage_rate = usage_sum / no_periods
usage_in_month = usage_rate * days_in_month / days_duration
ld_tm_in_month = avg_lead_time / days_in_month
sa = usage_in_month * ld_tm_in_month * safety_factor
order_point = usage_in_month * ld_tm_in_month + sa
line_point = order_point
sugg_reorder = abc_value * usage_in_month
```

#### **Lookup Definitions**

usage\_sum = select sum(user\_override) from stiusged, stiusger

join = stiusged.doc\_no = stiusger.doc\_no filter= script\_code, warehouse\_code, item\_code

**no\_periods** = select no\_periods from stiperdr join = 1=1 filter = period\_code

days\_duration = select days\_duration from stiperdr
join = 1=1
filter = period\_code

**qty\_on\_hand** = select qty\_on\_hand from stilocar join = 1=1 filter= item\_code, warehouse\_code

**abc\_value** = select abc\_code from stilocar join = 1=1 filter= item\_code, warehouse\_code Resultant Variables

### Resultant: avg\_lead\_time Description: AVERAGE LEAD TIME

Select Statement: select avg\_ld\_tm from stilocar Hard Filter: 1=1 Where Columns item\_code warehouse\_code

**Resultant: cost** Description: ITEM/VENDOR COST Select Statement: select cost from stuctlgd Hard Filter: 1=1 Where Columns item\_code line code

**Resultant:** k\_factor Description: CARRYING FACTOR Select Statement: select parm\_value from stxparmd Hard Filter: language = 'ALL' and module = 'rlsetup' and access\_key = "k\_factor"

**Resultant:** r\_cost Description: REPLACEMENT COST Select Statement: select parm\_value from stxparmd Hard Filter: language = 'ALL' and module = 'rlsetup' and access\_key = 'r\_cost'

**Resultant: rc** Description: REVIEW CYCLE Select Statement: select review\_cycle from stiprInd Hard Filter: 1=1 line\_code warehouse\_code

**Resultant:** sa\_factor Description: SAFETY ALLOWANCE FACTOR Select Statement: select parm\_value from stxparmd Hard Filter: language = 'ALL' and module = 'rlsetup' and access\_key = 'safety\_factor'

# Glossary

The following is a list of terms used in the Fitrix Replenishment module:

**Activity:** For replenishment, it is any demand placed on an item in a specific warehouse where the transaction represents a shipment of inventory in the activity table.

**Buy Recommendations:** Buy recommendations are the recommendations to purchase generated through the Replenishment module. These recommendations include when to order, and the quantity to order per product line.

**Cycle Count:** Cycle count identifies what group of inventory items require a physical inventory. Once identified, the items are then counted and the results are used to update the inventory records.

**Distribution:** Channel or path by which products are distributed from the manufacturer to the end user.

**Economic Order Quantity (EOQ):** One of the standard variables resolved by a replenishment formula that takes into account the costs of procurement and carrying inventory when determining the optimum quantity to buy.

**Exception Processing:** The Replenishment module uses exception processing to run a regularly scheduled (i.e., nightly) process to check for those items which may have fallen below the critical order point. Exception processing generates an expedite report listing all items which need ordering prior to the next replenishment review cycle.

**Formula:** The *Business* Replenishment module calculates replenishment advice based on userdefined formulas applied to the various product lines. These formulas consist of a defined series of variables manipulated mathematically to result in a numerical value.

Independent Demand: A determination of demand based on a model of sales history and usage.

**Inventory Class Analysis:** Class analysis is based on the 80/20 rule: 80% of your business comes from 20% of your inventory items. The first step in the analysis is to rank products by sales or more preferably by contribution to corporate profitability. This module's class analysis follows the model where the traditional ABC classes are expanded to 13 classes. You can enter what percentage of your inventory you want represented in each of the classes 1-12. Class 13 is reserved for those non-moving inventory items and are recommended for disposal.

**Inventory Turnover:** Inventory turnover measures how often stock (shelf inventory) is used. It is measured as inventory-monetary use calculated as follows for a single warehouse: Annual Cost of Goods Sold (stock only) / Average Annual Inventory Value

**K Cost (Carrying Cost):** The *Business* Replenishment module uses a defined K Cost or the cost of carrying inventory in its formulas to determine buy recommendations.

**Lead Time:** This represents the amount of time it takes to replenish inventory; more specifically, it is the amount of time it takes (in days) from when you request or order inventory until it is actually received, stocked, and in the computer as available for sale.

**Line Point:** This is the upper limit set for line-buying. It is greater than the order point and represents the maximum level of stock on hand and on order that can occur and still require an additional procurement. The line point is the order point + (usage x review period [in months]).

**Order Point:** This is the critical point at which the item needs to be reordered. The combination of the Qty. on Hand + Qty. on Order should never drop below the order point. When the order point is reached, you need to order more stock immediately. It is the safety allowance and one lead time's usage.

**Period Definition:** Period Definitions are used by the Replenishment module to determine the length of time and number of periods in which inventory usage data is tracked. For example, you may define your period definitions to track usage in increments of 28 days for six separate periods.

**Product Line:** A product line is a group of products specific to a given vendor. This allows the buyer to purchase a group of inventory items from the vendor at one time to minimize paperwork and maximize discounts. Once the items are defined in a product line, the system can then summarize all purchases between a given period for that product line. Inventory items should be grouped based on a commonality of order characteristics, such as discounts available, seasonality, ordering requirements, etc.

Pure Usage: It represents inventory activity transactions flagged for recurring usage.

**Pull System:** A *reactive* inventory system that utilizes consumer orders to pull the product through the channels of distribution.

**R Cost (Replenishment Cost):** The *Business* Replenishment module uses the user defined R Cost information as part of its replenishment formulas used to determine buy recommendations. R Cost is the cost of replenishing inventory, including purchase order generation costs, shipping costs, warehouse restocking costs, etc.

Reorder Point: See Order Point.

**Replenishment Calculations:** A series of defined replenishment formulas which resolve the variables into numerical data for use in determining replenishment advice.

**Replenishment Script:** A series of formulas (grouped as a replenishment calculation) assigned to each product line. Since this assignment instructs the system when and how to process the data, it is called a replenishment script.

**Resultant Variable:** The variable which is resolved into a numeric value as a result of a replenishment formula.

**Review Cycle:** The defined frequency of review for a product line. The review cycle is computed by dividing the total annual purchases in the line by the discount threshold. It must not be greater than once per month.

**Safety Allowance:** The Replenishment module uses a safety allowance in restocking inventory to account for fluctuation in usage and lead time. Safety allowance is the user-defined safety factor x (average usage x lead time).

**Safety Stock:** A "buffer" of stock to account for forecasting errors (i.e., extra inventory to prevent stock-outs). See Safety Allowance.

Script: See Replenishment Script

**Seasonality:** Inventory items which have a different selling history for certain periods of the year than others (normally 80% of demand is in six months or less) are considered seasonal. This seasonality affects the stocking requirements and is reflected in the replenishment methods used to determine buy recommendations.

**Select Statement:** A statement written in SQL to retrieve or select data from the database. SQL selection statements are used in replenishment to tag data to the variables used in replenishment formulas.

Usage Rate: Computed value based on a defined formula that determines usage.

**Usage Tracking:** The manner in which you define how the system should collect data on inventory usage.

**Target Purchase:** Target purchase levels are defined by the user in the Replenishment module as the target amount (quantity, monetary, volume, or weight) which grants a discount from the vendor.

**Variable:** The Replenishment module tags variables to the database through SQL select statements, allowing the user to, in effect, "reprogram" the replenishment formulas. Replenishment formulas consist of a series of mathematically manipulated variables.